

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

Interfaces and the extended Hilbert space of Chern-Simons theory

Fliss, J.R.; Leigh, R.G.

DOI 10.1007/JHEP07(2020)009

Publication date 2020 Document Version Final published version

Published in Journal of High Energy Physics

License CC BY

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Fliss, J. R., & Leigh, R. G. (2020). Interfaces and the extended Hilbert space of Chern-Simons theory. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, *2020*(7), [9]. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2020)009

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

UvA-DARE is a service provided by the library of the University of Amsterdam (https://dare.uva.nl)

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: May 18, 2020 ACCEPTED: June 9, 2020 PUBLISHED: July 1, 2020

Interfaces and the extended Hilbert space of Chern-Simons theory

Jackson R. Fliss^{*a,b*} and Robert G. Leigh^{*a*}

^a Department of Physics, University of Illinois, 1110 West Green St., Urbana IL 61801, U.S.A.
^b Institute of Physics, University of Amsterdam, 904 Science Park, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands

E-mail: j.r.fliss@uva.nl, rgleigh@illinois.edu

ABSTRACT: The low energy effective field theories of (2 + 1) dimensional topological phases of matter provide powerful avenues for investigating entanglement in their ground states. In [1] the entanglement between distinct Abelian topological phases was investigated through Abelian Chern-Simons theories equipped with a set of topological boundary conditions (TBCs). In the present paper we extend the notion of a TBC to non-Abelian Chern-Simons theories, providing an effective description for a class of gapped interfaces across non-Abelian topological phases. These boundary conditions furnish a defining relation for the extended Hilbert space of the quantum theory and allow the calculation of entanglement directly in the gauge theory. Because we allow for trivial interfaces, this includes a generic construction of the extended Hilbert space in any (compact) Chern-Simons theory quantized on a Riemann surface. Additionally, this provides a constructive and principled definition for the Hilbert space of effective ground states of gapped phases of matter glued along gapped interfaces. Lastly, we describe a generalized notion of surgery, adding a powerful tool from topological field theory to the gapped interface toolbox.

KEYWORDS: Chern-Simons Theories, Gauge Symmetry, Topological Field Theories, Topological States of Matter

ARXIV EPRINT: 2004.05123





Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Classical boundary conditions and gapped interfaces	4
	2.1 Examples	10
3	Quantum gluing operators	13
	3.1 Including interfaces	15
4	Entanglement across interfaces	17
	4.1 S^2 with a single equatorial interface	17
	4.2 T^2 with a single interface	19
	4.3 T^2 with two interfaces	20
	4.3.1 A^c disconnected	20
	4.3.2 A^c connected	21
5	Surgery	22
	5.1 S^2 : entanglement cut along the interface	24
	5.2 T^2 with a single interface	28
	5.3 T^2 with two interfaces	29
	5.3.1 A^c disconnected	29
	5.3.2 A^c connected	30
6	Discussion	31
Α	Hilbert space construction and ground state degeneracy	35

1 Introduction

The entanglement of spatial subregions of ground-state wavefunctions of (2+1) dimensional gapped phases of matter provides a clear signature of non-trivial topological order. One aspect of this signature is reflected in the entanglement entropy, which leads to a universal correction to the area law: the so-called *topological entanglement entropy* (TEE) [2, 3]. Another aspect is the role of the entanglement spectrum in the bulk-edge correspondence. Indeed, the boundaries of topological phases of matter generically host gapless degrees of freedom often referred to as "edge modes". The dynamics of these edge modes is intimately tied to bulk entanglement through a variety of mechanisms (e.g., spectrum matching [4] and entanglement inflow [5]). The edge modes paint an appealing heuristic, and by now, well-understood, picture of how bulk entanglement can arise even if all (bulk) dynamics is gapped: arising from an imaginary boundary, the modes on the edge of the spatial tensor factors (the *entangling surface*) must be invisible to the bulk state. The short-range correlations that erase or "gap out" these imaginary edge modes is counted by the area law of the bulk entanglement entropy; however it is the global constraints on the state that lead to the subleading correction and provides the signal of topological order.

Reversing this logic, the above picture also allows for a construction of a bulk Hilbert space assembled from "gluing" spatial subregions through gapping out their respective edge degrees of freedom. Interestingly, this construction works for gluing together systems in possibly different topological phases. This has led to an increasing interest in a classification of which systems can allow such mutual gapped boundaries, (which are often called gapped *interfaces*) and in the presence of which interactions the edge modes of these systems are unstable to mass generation [6, 7]. Because the edge dynamics are related to bulk entanglement, it is perhaps unsurprising that this classification is reflected in the bulk entanglement entropy. This idea was first posited in [8] through an explicit microscopic construction of (2+1) Abelian topological phases using "coupled wires". In that paper, the authors found that the choice of gapping interactions for wires straddling the entangling cut modified the universal subleading correction leading to a new, effective, TEE. This effect was explored further in [1] from the point of view of the low-energy effective field theory which is governed by Abelian K-matrix Chern-Simons theory. The gapped interactions were mirrored by a set of topological boundary conditions (TBCs) [9] that label Lagrangian subspaces of $\mathbb{K} = K_L \oplus (-K_R)$ (where K_L and K_R are the K-matrices of the theories to the left and the right of the interface). This story ties in well with the known connections of gapped interfaces, and the description of anyon condensation by Lagrangian subsets [6, 9-12]. In that paper, it was also explained, directly from consideration of the bulk Hilbert space, the special role Ishibashi states [13] play in reproducing bulk entanglement. We will return to this point shortly.

This story has been extended, notably in [14, 15], to non-Abelian topological phases described by the quantum doubles of finite groups. There it was argued that the ground state entanglement displays a modified TEE. In this paper, we aim to supplement this story with the point of view of the low-energy topological field theory, this time a non-Abelian Chern-Simons theory. As a primary goal, we will understand the results of [14] directly in terms of the bulk gapped Hilbert space, in a similar vein as [1]. As we shall see below, the role of the K-matrix is replaced by the level, k, and the Killing form of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Correspondingly, we will classify TBCs through an analogous (though relaxed) notion of Lagrangian subspace. Although a generic gapped interface does not have to arise through such a construction¹ we will explain how an interface constructed this way displays all the hallmarks of a gapped interface. Although it is our belief that any gapped interface between theories with non-Abelian Chern-Simons descriptions can be obtained through our construction, we do not prove this claim.² To be careful about this distinction, we refer to our construction as an *isotropic interface*.

¹In particular, the methods of this paper are most naturally stated in terms of *symmetry breaking*. There are also classes of interfaces based upon *symmetry extension*, [16], whose interpretation in Chern-Simons theory is not clear. We thank Juven Wang for pointing this out.

²Additionally we do not claim to provide a generic description of anyon condensation.

The ability to explore isotropic interfaces in the low-energy field theory comes along with many of the powerful tools of topological field theory. One such tool is *surgery*, which allows for the evaluation of the Chern-Simons path integral on an arbitrarily complicated compact three manifold in terms of a few simple "ingredient path integrals", (for example the path integrals on the three sphere S^3 or on $S^2 \times S^1$). Using these tools, the Rényi path integrals (and henceforth the entanglement entropy) of homogenous Chern-Simons theory corresponding to various entanglement cuts on various spatial manifolds were evaluated in [17], extending the results of [2, 3]. One result of this paper is to show that the entropy across subregions separated by isotropic interfaces can be evaluated in a similar manner. In doing so, we must evaluate a new novel set of "ingredient" path integrals.

In addition to surgery methods, the field theory approach to these interfaces allows for bulk manifestation of the Ishibashi states of [14], in what we regard as the first main result of this paper. All gauge theories face a fundamental obstruction to writing the Hilbert space as a local tensor factor [18–23]. Before we can discuss entanglement entropy, we must address this issue and define what it is that we are computing. In [1] we showed that this could be done explicitly using the *extended Hilbert space* prescription [24, 25] and that the bulk state is realized in the extended tensor product precisely as an Ishibashi state. In this paper, we show that this construction carries over naturally for bulk theories populated by isotropic interfaces. Because this includes trivial interfaces, this gives a systematic extension of the extended Hilbert space construction to all (compact) Chern-Simons theories on closed manifolds. This is a significant addition to the small (but growing) handful of existing extended Hilbert space constructions in continuum field theory [1, 26–31].

Lastly, we remark that although there is much literature about the classification, the anyon excitations, and the ground state degeneracies of the theories populated by interfaces [6, 7, 32–35], we are not aware of any systematic constructions of the Hilbert spaces for these theories. We show that the extended Hilbert space provides a natural construction of the Hilbert spaces of these theories (and the ground states that furnish them) that, without another independent construction, can be taken as their *definition*. We regard this as the second main result of the paper. This is elaborated on in section 3.1 with further details in appendix A.

The structure of the paper is as follows. In section 2 we begin with a discussion of classical boundary conditions in non-Abelian Chern-Simons theory and introduce the notion of an isotropic subalgebra which we use to construct interfaces between separate Chern-Simons theories. We elaborate on the physical intuition of why these correspond to gapped interfaces from the point of view of the WZW description of the wavefunctions. This story includes a description of what anyon excitations do as they approach the interface which we phrase in terms of the branching of representations upon restriction to a subalgebra. In section 3 we review the aforementioned obstruction to Hilbert space factorization and the extended Hilbert space resolution. In doing so, we promote the classical boundary conditions of section 2 to quantum operators whose kernel defines the embedding of the bulk Hilbert space into the tensor product. We use this construction to compute the entanglement entropy across isotropic interfaces for several examples in section 4. Although these results are both regulated and exact, we present a geometric surgery perspective on the same examples in section 5. We finish the main body of the paper with a discussion of these results and their implications for condensed matter theory and for AdS/CFT duality. Lastly, in in appendix A, we present details on the construction of bulk Hilbert spaces for Riemann surfaces supporting isotropic interfaces.

2 Classical boundary conditions and gapped interfaces

We begin with the action of Chern-Simons theory with a simple gauge group³ G on a compact manifold M:

$$S_{\rm CS} = \frac{k}{4\pi} \int_M \operatorname{Tr}\left(A \wedge dA + \frac{2}{3}A \wedge A \wedge A\right) \tag{2.1}$$

where Tr is taken over a fixed representation of G. The discussions of this paper will be phrased in terms of the equivalent Killing form on \mathfrak{g} , the Lie algebra of G:

$$K^{ab} \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left(t^{a}t^{b}\right) \qquad \qquad \mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}}\left\{t^{a}\right\}.$$
 (2.2)

Of course, when \mathfrak{g} is simple we can always find a basis in which $K^{ab} = \delta^{ab}$, but this is not necessary (for instance, we might be interested in expressing \mathfrak{g} in a Cartan-Weyl basis). We will also, for convenience, introduce what we will call the *level-Killing form*:

$$\kappa^{ab} \equiv k \, K^{ab},\tag{2.3}$$

which in many ways in the following discussion plays an analogous role to the "K-matrix" familiar in Abelian Chern-Simons theories. Equation (2.3) extends naturally to *semi*-simple Lie algebras $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2 \oplus \ldots$ by regarding it as tensor sum $\kappa = k_1 K_1 \oplus k_2 K_2 \oplus \ldots$; this is the generic framework that we will keep in mind.

When M possesses a boundary, variations of $S_{\rm CS}$ produce a boundary term on-shell⁴

$$\delta S_{\rm CS} = \frac{\kappa^{ab}}{4\pi} \int_{\partial M} a_a \wedge \delta a_b. \tag{2.4}$$

where a_a is the pullback of A_a to ∂M . As usual, we interpret this variation as a one-form on the space of field configurations and the resulting boundary term then gives rise to the *pre-symplectic one-form*, θ . Equation (2.4) can be modified by the addition of boundary terms that contribute exact variations. Independent of these additions, the second variation defines the *pre-symplectic two-form*⁵ on the space of field configurations

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = \delta \boldsymbol{\theta} = \frac{\kappa_{ab}}{4\pi} \int_{\partial M} \delta a_a \wedge \delta a_b. \tag{2.5}$$

³For the purposes of this paper, we will always take the gauge group to be compact, but we will offer comments on non-compact groups in the discussion.

⁴Note that δa_a is both a form on ∂M and on the phase space. The wedge product denotes antisymmetrization of both; for example an expression like $\delta a_a \wedge \delta a_b$ is symmetric in a, b.

⁵In gauge theories, this form possesses null directions (along variations corresponding to gauge transformations). Only after modding out by these null directions does the pre-symplectic two-form yield a symplectic form on the phase space. We will not be concerned with this distinction now because we will be interested in identifying a subgroup of these null directions to preserve on the boundary.



Figure 1. On the left two Chern-Simons theories joined on an interface. Alternatively, once folded, this is a theory valued in the tensor sum with a hard boundary.

whose inverse determines the Poisson brackets on phase space. Boundary conditions for the fields a_a can be classified by *Lagrangian subspaces of* Ω . A subspace of variational vectors, \mathcal{L}_{Ω} , is Lagrangian iff it is *isotropic* and *co-isotropic* with respect to Ω :

$$\mathbf{\Omega}(v,w) = 0 \qquad \forall \ w \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{\Omega}} \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad v \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{\Omega}}.$$
(2.6)

The vanishing of θ when restricted to \mathcal{L}_{Ω} identifies the "canonical coordinates" of this subspace.

Generic boundary conditions require additional structure to be introduced. This is typically a complex structure (or alternatively a metric structure) on ∂M . Indeed, the common procedure when ∂M is a Riemann surface is to introduce complex coordinates $\{z, \bar{z}\}$ and fix either a_z or $a_{\bar{z}}$ to zero, implemented at the level of the symplectic one-form by the addition⁶ of $S_{\text{bndy}} = \pm \frac{1}{4\pi} \kappa^{ab} \int_{\partial M} a_a \wedge \star a_b$. Here \star is the Hodge star with respect to the boundary volume form, $i dz \wedge d\overline{z}$. After gauge fixing, this yields the boundary variables corresponding to a chiral Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW) theory. This is a standard procedure for defining holomorphic wave-functionals of Chern-Simons theory when we interpret ∂M as a Cauchy slice. For the present case, however, this is not what we are interested in: we are looking for interfaces upon which such degrees of freedom pair up and become massive as a result of interactions between them. Such a situation is sketched in figure 1; associated with the Chern-Simons on the left is the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_L and level-Killing form κ_L and that on the right with \mathfrak{g}_R and κ_R . At least locally, we can alternatively view this as folded over to a Chern-Simons theory with algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_L \oplus \mathfrak{g}_R$ and level-Killing form $\kappa = \kappa_L \oplus (-\kappa_R)$, with a hard boundary, as shown in figure 1 (we will thus interchangeably refer to interface and boundary in what follows). Let us now describe a class of topological boundary conditions that can arise in such a case and do not require the introduction of an auxiliary metric structure on the interface.

Returning to the symplectic two-form, let us look for a subalgebra $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ that is Lagrangian with respect to the level-Killing form, κ . A necessary condition for the existence

⁶We write \pm here, but for a given signature of κ , only one sign choice leads to a unitary boundary theory. [36]

of such a subalgebra is that the number of positive eigenvalues of $\boldsymbol{\kappa}$ is equal to the number of negative eigenvalues. Thus, for a simple Lie algebra this is a futile effort: the Killing form is positive definite and so cannot admit any Lagrangian subspaces. However, in our context, $\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}} = \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_L \oplus \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_R$ being a direct sum of two Lie algebras with $\boldsymbol{\kappa} = (\kappa_L) \oplus (-\kappa_R)$, it is possible that such a subalgebra $\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}}$ exists. A simple example would occur if $\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_L$ and $\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_R$ were isomorphic, in which case $\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}}$ could be the diagonal subalgebra $\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}} = \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_{L,\text{diag}} = \text{span} \{t^a \oplus t^a\} \subset \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_L \oplus \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}_R$.

At first glance, if κ_L and κ_R are both positive, then the isotropic and co-isotropic conditions impose dim $\overline{\mathbf{g}} = \dim \mathfrak{g}_L = \dim \mathfrak{g}_R$. Lagrangian subspaces of this type are known as Lagrangian Lie subalgebras (with respect to κ) [37–41]. As restrictive as this condition is, there can still exist non-trivial interfaces even when $\mathfrak{g}_L \simeq \mathfrak{g}_R$ (as we find in **example** 1 of section 2.1). However, in the interest of constructing a more general class of gapped interfaces, we will relax the co-isotropic condition and allow for subspaces that are not half-dimensional. To this end we will search for a subalgebra, $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_L$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_R$ such that $\kappa_L|_{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}} = \kappa_R|_{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}}$. If such a subalgebra exists then the diagonal $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} := \overline{\mathfrak{g}}_{\text{diag}} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{g}} \oplus \overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subset \mathfrak{g}_L \oplus \mathfrak{g}_R$ is an isotropic subalgebra with respect to κ .

If there exists an isotropic subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_L \oplus \mathfrak{g}_R$ with respect to κ then we define a corresponding *isotropic interface*, \mathcal{I} , via the following boundary conditions. The fields from the left and the right of \mathcal{I} , once pulled back to the interface (denoted a^L and a^R , respectively) will be fixed to lie in $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ and will be continuous within this subalgebra. To be more specific, let us denote the embedding of $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ into $\mathfrak{g}_{L,R}$ as $\iota_{L,R}$ (respectively):

$$\iota_{L,R}: \overline{\mathfrak{g}} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{g}_{L,R}. \tag{2.7}$$

Then $a^{L,R}$ must be expressed in terms of a continuous field $\overline{\mathfrak{a}} \in \overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ as $a^{L,R} = \iota_{L,R} \circ \overline{\mathfrak{a}}$. In a particular basis $\{\overline{t^a}\}$ of $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$, and $\{t^a_{L,R}\}$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{L,R}$, we can describe this embedding as

$$\iota_{L,R} \circ \bar{t}^{\bar{a}} = (v_{L,R})_a^{\ \bar{a}} t_{L,R}^a.$$
(2.8)

such that the components of $a^{L,R}$ in these bases satisfy

$$a_a^L = (v_L)_a^{\ \bar{b}} \overline{\mathfrak{a}}_{\bar{b}} \qquad a_a^R = (v_R)_a^{\ \bar{b}} \overline{\mathfrak{a}}_{\bar{b}} \qquad \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \in \overline{\mathfrak{g}}$$
(2.9)

These conditions hold *locally* on the interface.⁷ In the previously mentioned simple case where \mathfrak{g}_L is isomorphic to \mathfrak{g}_R and $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}_{L,\text{diag}}$, we can take $(v_{L,R})_a^{\overline{b}} = \delta_a^{\overline{b}}$, which we call a *trivial interface*.

The continuity of the symplectic form across ${\mathcal I}$ is then

$$\int_{\mathcal{I}} \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot (v_L)^t \cdot \kappa_L \cdot v_L \cdot \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}} = \int_{\mathcal{I}} \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot (v_R)^t \cdot \kappa_R \cdot v_R \cdot \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \equiv \int_{\mathcal{I}} \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot \kappa_{\text{eff}} \cdot \delta \overline{\mathfrak{a}}$$
(2.10)

These conditions are the same whether the gauge groups are Abelian or non-Abelian. However, in the non-Abelian case we have more structure and thus potentially extra conditions. That is, not only do we have matching at the level of vector spaces, but also at the level of the algebras:

$$[\iota_{L,R} \circ \bar{t}^{\bar{a}}, \iota_{L,R} \circ \bar{t}^{\bar{b}}] = \iota_{L,R} \circ [\bar{t}^{\bar{a}}, \bar{t}^{\bar{b}}]$$

$$(2.11)$$

⁷However, for Abelian theories $v_{L,R}$ must, in fact, be constant. See footnote 11.

Given structure constants $f_{L,R}{}^{ab}{}_{c}$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{f}}^{\overline{a}\overline{b}}{}_{\overline{c}}$ for $\mathfrak{g}_{L,R}$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$, respectively, then

$$(v_{L,R})_{a}^{\ \bar{a}}(v_{L,R})_{b}^{\ \bar{b}}f_{L,R}^{\ ab}{}_{c} = \bar{\mathfrak{f}}^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}{}_{\bar{c}}(v_{L})_{c}^{\ \bar{c}}$$
(2.12)

If these conditions can be satisfied, then the effective algebra at the interface is $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ with structure constants $\overline{\mathfrak{f}}$ and level-Killing form κ_{eff} .

Let us pause to address the following concern. From the viewpoint of the classical symplectic form, relaxing co-isotropy seems to be a perverse direction to take: the choice of a half-dimensional subspace is the guide for choosing a polarization for wavefunctions in the quantum theory. For non-Abelian Chern-Simons theory however, the dimension of its Lie algebra is a poor measure of its quantum degrees of freedom; the proper measure is the Sugawara central charge associated to its affine algebra. Indeed one would imagine that in order for all of the light degrees of freedom at the interface to be gapped then the matching of the chiral central charges is a necessary condition. This is guiding principle we will take in this paper. To this end we will require that our subalgebra, $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{L,R}$ admits an affine subalgebra extension⁸ $\hat{\mathfrak{g}} \subseteq \hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{L,R}$ such that $c_{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}} = c_L = c_R$. We note if $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a proper subalgebra then it must be *conformally embedded* into both $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L$ and $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R$. Conformal embeddings have been well studied and are extremely constrained (see [42] for a nice overview). Here we see that they appear as a natural class of topological boundary conditions.

So far the discussion of these boundary conditions has been on the level of consistency of embedded subalgebras. It is perhaps instructive to illustrate why these correspond to "gapped interfaces" in the usual sense. In that vein, consider the path integral on a manifold with boundary Σ that intersects transversely with \mathcal{I} , as in figure 2. As is standard, the theory can be rewritten (with holomorphic boundary conditions) as a theory of chiral WZW fields living on Σ and in principle we have two separate WZW theories that meet at $\Sigma \cap \mathcal{I}$. In the folded theory, the interface is treated as a hard boundary and the WZW_L and WZW_R theories would give rise to chiral and anti-chiral massless modes at $\Sigma \cap \mathcal{I}$. The topological boundary conditions, however, ensure that these modes are gapped out in the following way. The currents for the two theories, as they approach the interface, are restricted to span the subalgebra $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$; the conditions (2.10) and (2.12) ensure that this can be done consistently. In particular, since the chiral central charges of the two theories are equal, $c_L = c_R$, the two WZW's can be joined into a single non-chiral WZW via the standard Polyakov-Wiegmann trick [43, 44] which is unstable to gap formation. For the Abelian theory this is explicit: the identification of the currents from WZW_L (once appropriately mapped to $\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}}$ with those from WZW_R can be implemented at the level of the elementary compact bosons via a massive deformation whose IR limit becomes a hard delta-functional [1].

Now let us discuss the inclusion of anyon punctures. We recall that the states on surfaces pierced by anyon excitations are related to integrable highest weight representations of the affine Lie algebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_k$. We will label generic anyons by their corresponding highest weights α, β, \ldots , and their corresponding integrable representations by \mathcal{R}_{α} ; for Abelian

⁸Note that this extension is typically easy to find: the matching of central terms in the corresponding affine algebras are automatically satisfied via (2.10).



Figure 2. On a Cauchy slice Σ the bulk theory can be rewritten as a chiral WZW theory on either side of the interface. In the folded theory, we have a chiral and anti-chiral WZW whose restriction to $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ close to the interface coalesces into a single non-chiral WZW consistent with the interface (now treated as a boundary) being gapped.

anyons specifically we will denote both the anyon and its representation by a lowercase Latin letter (e.g., q). In both the Abelian and non-Abelian theories we will always denote the identity anyon by "0". When we have interfaces between distinct phases, we can have anyon punctures in each phase, and thus we can associate an integrable representation to each side of an interface. After imposing topological boundary conditions, we must restrict fields at the interface to lie in the isotropic subalgebra $\overline{\mathbf{g}}$, with its own irreducible highest weight representations (irreps). The restriction of a representation, \mathcal{R}_{α} , of $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_k$ to a subalgebra then will be a linear combination of the irreps of $\overline{\mathbf{g}}$, schematically:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\alpha}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}\Big|_{\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}}} = \bigoplus_{\bar{\alpha}} m_{\alpha}^{\bar{\alpha}} \mathcal{R}_{\bar{\alpha}}^{(\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}})}$$
(2.13)

If the identity representation of $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ appears on the right-hand side of this decomposition, then we say that the anyon, α , condenses at the boundary. The multiplicity with which the identity representation appears in (2.13) tells us the number of channels in which the anyon can condense:

$$\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} \equiv m_{\alpha}^0. \tag{2.14}$$

There is an intuitive picture for this in the folded setup of an isotropic interface between two topological phases. Since $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ is a subalgebra of both $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_L$ and $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_R$, each have their own decomposition upon restriction to $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$. Such decompositions are called *conformal branchings*⁹ in the literature [10, 11, 14, 42]. The identity irrep of $\hat{\mathbf{g}} = (\hat{\mathbf{g}} \oplus \hat{\mathbf{g}})_{\text{diag}}$ can then appear at the interface only if $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_L$ and $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_R$ branch into a representation and its conjugate (respectively):

$$\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\alpha_R} = \sum_{\bar{\beta}} m_{\alpha_L}^{\bar{\beta}} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\bar{\beta}^*} \tag{2.15}$$

⁹We note that because representations of affine algebras are infinite dimensional, for a restriction to a generic subalgebra there is no guarantee that the branching coefficients are finite. However, happily for conformal embeddings (and only conformal embeddings) this happens to be the case. This is known as the *finite reducibility theorem* [45–47].

These tunneling matrices intertwine the modular data of the L and the R topological phases and so provide a realization of the tunneling matrices established in [33]:

$$\sum_{\beta_L} S^{(L)}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\beta_L} \mathcal{W}_{\beta_L}{}^{\alpha_R} = \sum_{\beta_R} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\beta_R} S^{(R)}_{\beta_R}{}^{\alpha_R}$$
$$\sum_{\beta_L} \mathcal{T}^{(L)}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\beta_L} \mathcal{W}_{\beta_L}{}^{\alpha_R} = \sum_{\beta_R} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\beta_R} \mathcal{T}^{(R)}_{\beta_R}{}^{\alpha_R}$$
(2.16)

where $\mathcal{S}^{(L,R)}$ and $\mathcal{T}^{(L,R)}$ are the modular S and T matrices of the left and right theories. This is easy to show from (2.15) and we do so briefly. For a generic embedding $\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}} \hookrightarrow \hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L$, the restriction of the affine character of an integrable highest weight representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L$ admits the following decomposition [42]:

$$\chi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}(\tau) = \sum_{\gamma} \chi_{\{\alpha_L;\gamma\}}(\tau) \chi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}(\tau)$$
(2.17)

where the sum is over integrable highest weights γ of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$. The functions $\chi_{\{\alpha_L;\gamma\}}(\tau)$ behave nicely under modular transformations

$$\chi_{\{\alpha_L,\gamma\}}(-1/\tau) = \sum_{\beta_L} \sum_{\delta} S_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)^{\beta_L}} \chi_{\{\beta_L,\delta\}}(\tau) S_{\delta}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})^{\dagger}^{\gamma}}$$
$$\chi_{\{\alpha_L,\gamma\}}(\tau+1) = \sum_{\beta_L} \sum_{\delta} \mathcal{T}_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)^{\beta_L}} \chi_{\{\beta_L;\delta\}}(\tau) \mathcal{T}_{\delta}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})^{\dagger}^{\gamma}}$$
(2.18)

For a *conformal embedding* however, these functions are $constant^{10}$ and equal to our branching coefficients [45]:

$$\chi_{\{\alpha_L;\gamma\}}(\tau) = m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma}.$$
(2.19)

This implies

$$m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} = \left(\mathcal{S}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)} \cdot m \cdot \mathcal{S}^{(\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}})\dagger} \right)_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} \qquad \qquad m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} = \left(\mathcal{T}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)} \cdot m \cdot \mathcal{T}^{(\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}})\dagger} \right)_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} \qquad (2.20)$$

Similar statements apply for the R phase branching coefficients. Equation (2.16) then follows directly from the definition, (2.15), and the unitarity of $\mathcal{S}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}$ and $\mathcal{T}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}$.

The coefficients $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\alpha_R}$ provide a map from the fusion spaces across the interface; ref. [33] introduced them as the dimension of the Hilbert space on the two-sphere with anyon punctures α_L and α_R on either side of an equatorial interface, as pictured in figure 3. While this is *a priori* a different definition than equation (2.15), it is easy to convince oneself that physically these two concepts are the same. We will see that this is true in section 4.1 by explicitly constructing the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{S^2_{\alpha_L,\alpha_R}}$.

¹⁰In fact, for a generic embedding, $\chi_{\{\alpha_L,\gamma\}}$ are characters of the coset theory $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L/\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$. The fact that these are constant for conformal embeddings indicates that this would-be coset is trivial: this is consistent with the statement that the TBCs are gapping out the degrees of freedom at the interface.



Figure 3. The dimension of the Hilbert space for the above configuration gives the tunneling matrix coefficients: $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\alpha_R} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{S^2_{\alpha_L},\alpha_R}$.

2.1 Examples

Although it is not our intention to classify all possible isotropic interfaces, in this section we give a number of examples to orient the reader. For the first set of examples, let us see what interfaces we can construct between the simplest non-Abelian Chern-Simons theories.

Example 1: $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L = \mathfrak{su}(2)_{k_L}$, $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R = \mathfrak{su}(2)_{k_R}$. The matching of the chiral central charges tells us immediately that the two levels must match, $k_L = k_R \equiv k$. Looking at conformally embedded subalgebras of $\mathfrak{su}(2)_k$ we find two possibilities: $\mathfrak{u}(1)_2$ (when k = 1) and $\mathfrak{su}(2)_k$ itself.

The former is the (trivial) identification of the Cartan algebras of each phase. This admits a nice physical picture: the vertex operator algebra of the $\mathfrak{u}(1)_2$ theory is in fact extended to $\mathfrak{su}(2)_1$ and so this gapped interface is really the extension of a gapped interface formed from identifying the currents of the Abelian theory (along the lines of [1]) at its critical radius. We will revisit this more generically in example 3.

For the latter, we can construct (at least) two independent interfaces. Firstly, there is the trivial interface. The anyons that can permeate the interface are of the form $\alpha_L = \alpha_R$ (in the folded picture the set of condensed anyons are of the form $\{\alpha, \alpha^*\} = \{\alpha, \alpha\}$).

Secondly, at the level of the algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, we might consider the subalgebra spanned by

$$\operatorname{span}\left\{J_3^L \oplus (-J_3^R), J_{\pm}^L \oplus J_{\mp}^R\right\}.$$
(2.21)

One immediate extension of this subalgebra to the affine $\mathfrak{su}(2)_k$ is the direct matching of the modes:

$$\hat{\overline{\mathbf{g}}} = \operatorname{span}\left\{J_{3,m}^L \oplus \left(-J_{3,m}^R\right), J_{\pm,m}^L \oplus J_{\mp,m}^R\right\}$$
(2.22)

Note, however, that the L and R highest weight representations are related by Weyl reflection and so correspond to the same integrable representation. Thus we see that the set of permeable anyons are again of the form $\{\alpha, \alpha\}$ and so from the point of view of anyon condensation, this interface is indistinguishable from the trivial interface. In fact this subalgebra is related to the trivial subalgebra by a global SU(2) conjugation.

A non-trivial affine extension of (2.21) can be constructed as

$$\hat{\overline{\mathbf{g}}} = \operatorname{span}\left\{J_{3,m}^{L} \oplus \left(\frac{k}{2}\delta_{m,0} - J_{3,m}^{R}\right), J_{\pm,m}^{L} \oplus J_{\mp,m\mp 1}^{R}\right\}$$
(2.23)

Here $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R$ weights are related to $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L$ weights via an outer automorphism [42]. When folded, this interface is equivalent to the anyon condensation characterized by the \mathbb{Z}_2 (or permutation) modular invariant of $\mathfrak{su}(2)_k$ [48]. This is a peculiar example in which the mode expansions of the currents are mixed. This can only happen in the non-Abelian Chern-Simons theory: the topological boundary conditions relating the Cartan subalgebras are generically described by the Abelian story in [1].¹¹

Although we will not go into detail here, the use of outer automorphisms can be extended to larger algebras with $\mathfrak{g}_L \simeq \mathfrak{g}_R$. Instead, in the following examples we focus on interfaces formed from the conformal embedding $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} \simeq \mathfrak{g}_L \subset \mathfrak{g}_R$. Generically, it is a necessary condition that the level of \mathfrak{g}_R is one [42].

Example 2: $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L = \mathfrak{su}(2)_{k_L}$, $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R = \mathfrak{su}(N)_1$. In this example we see that the possible gapped domain walls are sparse: matching of the central charge¹² with $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ only allows N = 3 and thus $k_L = 4$. $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ has an $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra associated to each simple root. It is a simple exercise to see that we cannot match the central terms of the corresponding affine algebras when $k_L = 4$. However there is another embedding of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ given by (up to a global SU(3) conjugation) by

$$\hat{\overline{\mathbf{g}}} = \operatorname{span}\left\{J_m^3 \oplus H_m^{(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)}, J_m^+ \oplus 2(E_m^{\alpha_1} + E_m^{\alpha_2}), J_m^- \oplus (E_m^{-\alpha_1} + E_m^{-\alpha_2})\right\}.$$
 (2.24)

where for a given root α , $H^{\alpha} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i H^i$. This is a proper conformal embedding¹³ and thus we can define a corresponding isotropic interface after imposing boundary conditions.

The branchings of the integral representations of $\mathfrak{su}(3)_1$ upon restriction to $\mathfrak{su}(2)_4$ are given by the following:

$$(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = (0, 0) \to (2j = 0) \oplus (2j = 4)$$
 $(0, 1) \to 2$ $(1, 0) \to 2$ (2.25)

where (λ_1, λ_2) are the Dynkin labels for the simple roots $\alpha_{1,2}$ of $\mathfrak{su}(3)$. Thus we have the following permeable anyons:

$$\{(0,0);0\} \qquad \{(0,0);4\} \qquad \{(1,0);2\} \qquad \{(0,1);2\} \qquad (2.26)$$

This is equivalently stated via the tunneling matrix

$$\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\alpha_R} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.27)

¹¹There is a supposition of *locality* built into this. If an Abelian gauge transformation of the *L* phase having support on a circular interface is related to that of the *R* phase via $\lambda_{L,a}(\theta) \sim f_a{}^b(\theta)\lambda_{R,b}(2\pi - \theta)$ then the only solution consistent with unitarity and the commutation relations of the Cartan sublagebras is $f_a{}^b = \text{constant}$ and from there the story follows [1].

¹²Recall that $c = k(N^2 - 1)/(k + N)$ for $\mathfrak{su}(N)_k$. Thus here we have $c_L = 3k_L/(k_L + 2)$ and $c_R = N - 1$. ¹³This conformally embedded $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ differs from those associated to simple roots by its *embedding in dex* [42]. For the purposes of our paper, we will always implicitly set the norm of all highest roots to 2; this index is then equivalently encoded in $v_{L,R}$.

where the ordering of the columns is (0,0), (1,0), (0,1). It is easy to verify that

$$\mathcal{W} \cdot \mathcal{S}^{\mathfrak{su}(3)_1} = \mathcal{S}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_4} \cdot \mathcal{W} \qquad \qquad \mathcal{W} \cdot \mathcal{T}^{\mathfrak{su}(3)_1} = \mathcal{T}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_4} \cdot \mathcal{W} \qquad (2.28)$$

where

$$\mathcal{S}^{\mathfrak{su}(3)_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & q & q^2\\ 1 & q^2 & q \end{pmatrix} \quad q = e^{2\pi i/3}; \quad \mathcal{S}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_4}{}_{j_1}{}^{j_2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sin\left(\frac{\pi(2j_1+1)(2j_2+1)}{6}\right) (2.29)$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mathfrak{su}(3)_1} = e^{\frac{-2\pi i c_R}{24}} \operatorname{diag}\left(1, e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}, e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}\right)$$
$$\mathcal{T}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_4} = e^{-\frac{2\pi i c_L}{24}} \operatorname{diag}\left(1, e^{\frac{\pi i}{4}}, e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}, e^{\frac{5\pi i}{4}}, 1\right) \qquad c_L = c_R = 2.$$
(2.30)

Example 3: $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L = \mathfrak{u}(1)_{K_L}^N$, $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R = \mathfrak{su}(N+1)_1$. In this last example we consider an interface between the Abelian theory with *K*-matrix

$$K_L = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & \dots \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & \dots \\ 0 & -1 & 2 & \dots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.31)

and the non-Abelian $\mathfrak{su}(N+1)_1$. That these two theories admit a gapped interface is perhaps not surprising: for N = 2, the *L* phase describes¹⁴ the Halperin (221) state which has a hidden extended SU(3)₁ symmetry [49]; analogous $\mathfrak{u}(1)^N$ states with extended SU(N + 1)₁ symmetry have since been constructed using coupled wires [50]. Since the *K*-matrix of the $\mathfrak{u}(1)^N$ is precisely the Cartan matrix of the $\mathfrak{su}(N+1)$ algebra, we find an isotropic algebra with respect to $K_L \oplus (-\kappa_R)$ by simply identifying the $\mathfrak{u}(1)^N$ generators, $\{\phi^i\}$, with the Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(N+1)$ in the Chevalley basis:

$$\hat{\overline{\mathbf{g}}} = \operatorname{span} \left\{ \phi_m^i \oplus H_m^{\alpha_i} \right\}_{i=1,\dots,N}$$
(2.32)

The N + 1 anyons of the $\mathfrak{u}(1)_{K_L}^N$ theory map straightforwardly into the N + 1 anyons of the $\mathfrak{su}(N+1)_1$ by identifying the Abelian charge vector with the corresponding Dynkin label of an $\mathfrak{su}(N+1)_1$ integrable representation; that is, the tunneling matrix, \mathcal{W} , is the identity.

Given the general setup for Abelian theories [1] we can look for interesting interfaces between these two theories by searching for integer matrices $\{v_L\}$ and $\{v_R\}$ obeying

$$(v_L)^t \cdot K_L \cdot v_L = (v_R)^t \cdot \kappa_R \cdot v_R. \tag{2.33}$$

One such example in the N = 2 case is given by

$$v_L = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 3 \\ 3 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \qquad v_R = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 \\ 3 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.34)

¹⁴Up to $GL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ conjugation.

and the effective theory at the interface is an Abelian theory with

$$\kappa_{\rm eff} = 7 \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.35}$$

As we will see in the following section, this topological boundary condition is distinguished from the above by the topological entanglement entropy across the interface.

3 Quantum gluing operators

The above discussion has been focused on classical boundary conditions. As we move to discussions of entanglement, we will implement these boundary conditions with the action of quantum operators. Before doing so, let us briefly remark about the state of affairs for entanglement in gauge theories.

At a formal level, a basic ingredient in discussing the entanglement of a subsystem A is the factorization of the Hilbert space:

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}. \tag{3.1}$$

We are interested in the case in which A is a spatial subregion on the Cauchy surface on which we are defining the state, ρ . The subregion A is then separated from A^c by an auxiliary co-dimension 2 surface that we refer to as the *entangling surface*. In a typical local quantum field theory this factorization is ill-defined in the following sense. Due to short range correlations at the entangling surface, the division of \mathcal{H} into \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_{A^c} is extremely sensitive to the UV cutoff of the theory. However, we regard this obstruction to be minimal and there are suitable prescriptions for overcoming it. For instance, we can put the theory on a lattice, with spacing ε or thicken the entangling surface to width ε and impose boundary conditions. With such a regularization in hand, we can take (3.1) literally and compute the reduced density matrix and its subsequent entanglement entropy:

$$S_{ent} = -\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_A}\left(\rho_A \log \rho_A\right) \qquad \qquad \rho_A = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{A^c}}\rho. \tag{3.2}$$

The above mentioned sensitivity to the UV cutoff is signaled by divergences in S_{ent} . For instance, in the vacuum state

$$S_{ent} \sim \frac{L^{d-2}}{\varepsilon^{d-2}} + \dots \tag{3.3}$$

In quantum gauge theories however, the situation is even more complicated. Even after regulating the local pile-up of modes at the entangling surface, the Hilbert space of gauge invariant states refuses a local factorization¹⁵ of the form (3.1). One manifestation of this is that the constraints of gauge invariance are non-locally realized and prevent a gauge invariant state existing on a sole tensor factor [18, 19]. A separate but equivalent manifestation of this fact is that any association of an algebra of gauge invariant operators to a subregion

 $^{^{15}}$ While this is the generic story for local spatial subsystems, there are other possible non-local partitions of the Hilbert space that appear to be perfectly well-defined even in gauge theories (for example the multi-boundary setups in [51, 52].)

A (call it \mathcal{A}_A) possesses a common center with its complement algebra \mathcal{A}_{A^c} [23, 53]; a simple result for von Neumann algebras then necessarily precludes a factorization (3.1).

This complication is present in Chern-Simons theory in a very stark way. Let us first ignore the introduction of interfaces and consider the Hilbert space of gauge invariant states on a Riemann surface, Σ_g , of genus g. For compact groups, Chern-Simons theory is special in that the dimension of this space is finite dimensional [54]:

$$\dim \mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_g} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{S}_0^{\alpha}|^{2g-2}}$$
(3.4)

Now we bisect Σ_g into two subregions with the entangling surface consisting of several disconnected circles: $\Sigma_g = A \#_{\{S_i^1\}} A^c$ and ask if

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_g} \stackrel{?}{=} \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}. \tag{3.5}$$

The answer is defiantly **no**. In fact both \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_{A^c} have to be *infinite dimensional*. Indeed, considering the generator of a gauge transformation $A \to A + d\lambda + [A, \lambda]$ on a Cauchy surface with some set of circular boundaries we have (after imposing Gauss' law)

$$\hat{Q}[\lambda] = \sum_{i} \frac{\kappa^{ab}}{2\pi} \int_{S_i^1} \lambda_a^{(i)} a_b \tag{3.6}$$

where $\lambda^{(i)}$ is the pullback of λ to the i^{th} circle. The presence of these boundary terms (which are responsible for the central extension of the current algebra) changes $\hat{Q}[\lambda]$ from a first class to a second class constraint. Simply put, \hat{Q} now acts as a global symmetry at the circular boundaries. As such, states carry a representation of this symmetry, which is a collection of integrable representations of extended Kăc-Moody algebras. Thus we have, schematically,¹⁶

$$\mathcal{H}_{A} = V_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2},\dots}^{(A)} \bigotimes_{i} \mathcal{H}_{S_{i}^{1}}[\alpha_{i}] \qquad \mathcal{H}_{S_{i}^{1}}[\alpha_{i}] = \operatorname{span}\left\{ |\alpha_{i}\rangle, J_{-n}^{a} |\alpha_{i}\rangle, J_{-n}^{a} J_{-m}^{b} |\alpha_{i}\rangle, \dots \right\}$$
(3.7)

which is infinite dimensional.

A natural resolution to this problem and the approach that we will adopt in this paper is called the *extended Hilbert space approach*¹⁷ [18–20, 22, 24, 25, 55]. Although (3.5) cannot exist as an equality, we can embed \mathcal{H}_{Σ} as a subspace in $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}$. $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}$, as an extended Hilbert space, contains states that are not gauge invariant. However, it is a simple matter to find the subspace of gauge invariant states by looking at the kernel of the operators (3.6):

$$|\psi\rangle_{(\in\mathcal{H})} \hookrightarrow |\tilde{\psi}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c} \qquad \left(\hat{Q}[\lambda_A] \otimes \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{A^c} + \hat{\mathbb{1}}_A \otimes \hat{Q}[\lambda_{A^c}]\right) |\tilde{\psi}\rangle = 0.$$
(3.8)

¹⁶The factor $V_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2,...,\alpha_n}^{(A)}$ is the fusion space for the handle-body with punctures that A forms when its boundaries are shrunk down to anyon punctures. It is a finite non-zero factor that counts the conformal blocks on this space.

¹⁷This is complemented by an alternative approach that might be called the *algebraic approach* (see for instance [23, 53]). The algebraic entropy seems to be extremely constrained in Chern-Simons theory. See section 6 for comments on this.

Of course we have to say how we identify the gauge parameters across the entangling surface. For each circular component parameterized by θ , we can express $\lambda_A = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} (\lambda_A^{(i)})_m e^{im\theta}$ (and similarly $\lambda_{A^c}^{(i)}$). The natural identification, once accounting for a flip in orientation, is

$$(\lambda_A^{(i)})_m = (\lambda_{A^c}^{(i)})_{-m}$$
 (3.9)

(we are suppressing Lie algebra indices). Denoting $\frac{\kappa^{ab}}{2\pi} \int_{S_i^1} e^{-im\theta} a_b \equiv J_m^{(i),a}$, this translates to the preservation of the chiral symmetry algebra across that component of the entangling surface:

$$\left(\hat{J}_{A,m}^{(i),a} \otimes \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{A^c}^{(i)} + \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{A}^{(i)} \otimes \hat{J}_{A^c,-m}^{(i),a}\right) |\tilde{\psi}\rangle = 0.$$
(3.10)

The solution to this equation is the non-Abelian generalization of the Ishibashi state, and the full state is the tensor product of such Ishibashi states for each circular component of the entangling surface:

$$|\tilde{\psi}\rangle = \bigotimes_{i} |\alpha_{i}\rangle\rangle$$
 $|\alpha_{i}\rangle\rangle = \sum_{M} |\alpha_{i}, M\rangle \otimes \overline{|\alpha_{i}, M\rangle}$ (3.11)

where M labels an orthonormal basis of descendants of the conformal module with primary α_i . In this embedding, the notion of tracing out A^c is now clear: we simply trace $|\alpha_i\rangle\rangle\langle\langle\alpha_i|$ over basis states $\overline{|\alpha_i, M\rangle}$. In [1], this result for Abelian Chern-Simons provided a universal explanation for the equivalence between bulk entanglement spectrum and the spectrum of chiral edge modes and for the efficacy of the calculation of spatial entanglement using left-right entanglement of Ishibashi states [56]. Happily, we find that this explanation persists into the non-Abelian theories.

3.1 Including interfaces

Now let us consider the same line of inquiry when states contain interfaces of the type above, taking the entangling surface along some set of interfaces. As one might guess the above paradox appears in this context as well: the Hilbert space of gauge invariant states of a Riemann surface with interfaces is finite dimensional, while the "would-be" tensor factors are infinite dimensional and correspond to integrable representations on which operators of the form

$$\hat{Q}_L[\lambda_L] \otimes \hat{\mathbb{1}} + \hat{\mathbb{1}} \otimes \hat{Q}_R[\lambda_R]$$
(3.12)

act as a global symmetry (for each circular component of the entangling surface). Although this is morally true, we do not have a generic construction of the Hilbert spaces in question. What we show in appendix A is that the extended Hilbert space *provides a construction* of the Hilbert space of gauge invariant states when interfaces are involved, and this Hilbert space is finite dimensional (although both of its factors are infinite dimensional). The identification of the embedded Hilbert space follows from our discussion of TBCs. Focusing on a single component of the entangling surface coinciding with an interface \mathcal{I}_i , the unbroken gauge group is generated by an isotropic subalgebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_i \subseteq \hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L \oplus \hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R$ and as such the gauge



Figure 4. Anyon $\alpha_{L,i}$ branches into $\bigoplus_{\gamma} m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} \gamma$ when approaching the interface \mathcal{I}_i ; a similar branching occurs for $\alpha_{R,i}$. If they share a channel $m_{\alpha_{L,i}}^{\gamma} \times m_{\alpha_{R,i}}^{\gamma^*} \neq 0$ for some γ then this mediates the transmutation of $\alpha_{L,i}$ to $\alpha_{R,i}$ across the interface. The effective set of Ishibashi states for this interface are spanned by these branching channels.

parameters should be identified¹⁸

$$\lambda_{L,n}^{(i)} = \left(v_L \cdot \bar{\lambda}^{(i)}\right)_n \qquad \qquad \lambda_{R,n}^{(i)} = \left(v_R \cdot \bar{\lambda}^{(i)}\right)_{-n}, \qquad \quad \bar{\lambda}^{(i)} \in \hat{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}}. \tag{3.13}$$

Under this identification we demand

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\left(v_L^t \cdot \kappa_L \cdot \hat{\mathcal{J}}^L \right)_m \otimes \hat{\mathbb{1}}_R + \hat{\mathbb{1}}_L \otimes \left(v_R^t \cdot \kappa_R \cdot \hat{\mathcal{J}}^R \right)_{-m} \right) | \tilde{\psi} \rangle = 0$$
(3.14)

for each component of the circular interface. We are free to redefine $\left(v_L^t \cdot \kappa_L \cdot \hat{\mathcal{J}}^L\right)_m := \kappa_{\text{eff}} \cdot \hat{\mathcal{J}}_m$ and $\left(v_R^t \cdot \kappa_R \cdot \hat{\mathcal{J}}^R\right)_m := \kappa_{\text{eff}} \cdot \hat{\widetilde{\mathcal{J}}}_m$, where from the arguments of section 2, the currents $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_m$ and $\hat{\widetilde{\mathcal{J}}}_m$ each separately satisfy a Kăc-Moody current algebra with level-Killing form κ_{eff} . The resulting condition of gauge-invariance is then

$$\frac{\kappa_{\text{eff}}^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}}{4\pi} \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}}_{\bar{b},m} \otimes \hat{\mathbb{1}}_R + \hat{\mathbb{1}}_L \otimes \hat{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}}}_{\bar{b},-m} \right) |\tilde{\psi}\rangle = 0.$$
(3.15)

It is clear that the solution to (3.15) should be an Ishibashi state determined by the algebra $\hat{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}}_i$ at level $\kappa_{\text{eff}}^{(i)}$ but we also need to specify which Ishibashi state it is, i.e., we need to specify a conformal primary. In fact, unlike the above situation where the Chern-Simons theory is homogeneous (and all possible cuts are trivial interfaces), describing the Wilson line configuration on the interior of Σ_g is not enough to specify a unique state. This is a consequence of branching when the Wilson lines cross an interface. Indeed, let us suppose that approaching our interface of interest, \mathcal{I}_i , from the left side is a Wilson line carrying a representation $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha_{L,i}}$, while on the right side, the Wilson line carrying representation $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha_{R,i}}$ emerges from the interface (see figure 4). As we argued above in section 2, in order for this configuration to make sense a common representation must appear in the branchings of $\mathcal{R}_{\alpha_{L,R,i}}$ upon restriction to $\hat{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}}_i$. In fact there might be several such channels

¹⁸We allow the possibility that $v_{L,R}$ can mix mode expansions as we saw in **example 1** of section 2.1.

for this branching and for each one we can choose an Ishibashi state for the corresponding conformal primary:

$$\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}|_{\mathcal{I}_i} = \operatorname{span}\left\{ |\gamma_i\rangle\!\rangle \mid m^{\gamma}_{\alpha_{i,L}} m^{\gamma^*}_{\alpha^*_{i,R}} \neq 0 \right\}$$
(3.16)

4 Entanglement across interfaces

Let us now take this extended Hilbert space prescription adapted for systems with interfaces and compute the entanglement entropy of a variety of scenarios.

4.1 S^2 with a single equatorial interface

We now consider a state in the Hilbert space of the configuration depicted in figure 3 where the entangling surface is a single component taken along the equatorial interface. As elaborated upon above, this configuration does not specify a unique state; the Hilbert space is spanned by the mutual branching channels of α_L and α_R^* . Moving to the extended Hilbert space, a generic state in $\mathcal{H}_{S^2}[\alpha_L, \alpha_R]$ is mapped to

$$|\psi\rangle\rangle = \sum_{\gamma} \psi_{\gamma} m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*} |\gamma\rangle\rangle_{\bar{\mathfrak{g}},\kappa_{\text{eff}}}.$$
(4.1)

where we have explicitly noted that the $|\gamma\rangle\rangle$ are conformal primary Ishibashi states of $\hat{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}}$ with level κ_{eff} . Note that we have conveniently included the branching coefficients in the wavefunctions and so the sum can be taken indiscriminately over all highest weight representations of $\hat{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}}$. From here the left-right entanglement of such a state can easily be computed using standard techniques (see for example [56]). For the sake of a self-contained discussion, we will repeat this calculation in this section only. The computations in the later sections are wholly similar.

As is familiar, the Ishibashi state itself is non-normalizable and so the solution to (3.15) is only formal and requires regularization. Although we defined $|\gamma\rangle\rangle_{\bar{\mathfrak{g}},\kappa_{\mathrm{eff}}}$ purely from bulk considerations, it is a simple fact that it is in natural correspondence with a particular Virasoro module of the CFT with Sugawara generators, which given our definitions of the currents \mathcal{J} and $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}$, are

$$\boldsymbol{L}_{n} = \frac{c}{2\dim \overline{\mathfrak{g}}} \left(\kappa^{(\text{eff})} \right)^{ab} : \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{a,m} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{b,n-m} : \quad \tilde{\boldsymbol{L}}_{n} = \frac{c}{2\dim \overline{\mathfrak{g}}} \left(\kappa^{(\text{eff})} \right)^{ab} : \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}}_{a,m} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}}_{b,n-m} : \quad (4.2)$$

A natural way to regularize a given Ishibashi state is with the CFT Hamiltonian

$$|\gamma\rangle\rangle \to |\gamma^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle\rangle = e^{-\varepsilon \boldsymbol{H}_{\text{eff}}}|\gamma\rangle\rangle \qquad \qquad \boldsymbol{H}_{\text{eff}} = \frac{2\pi}{\ell} \left(\boldsymbol{L}_0 \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes \tilde{\boldsymbol{L}}_0 - \frac{c_L + c_R}{24}\right) \qquad (4.3)$$

where ℓ is the circumference of the circular interface. The introduction of ε can equivalently be thought of as defining the states, as usual, by moving into complex time. Although we constructed $\boldsymbol{H}_{\text{eff}}$ from $\hat{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}}$ generators (embedded into $\hat{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}}}_{L,R}$), as opposed to say from $L_0^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes L_0^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R)}$, there is no ambiguity here: the virtue of a conformal embedding is a matching of not only the central charges $c_L = c_R = c$, but also the Sugawara stress tensor. The norm of $|\gamma^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle\rangle$ is simply the character associated to the primary γ in the effective CFT:

$$n_{\gamma}^{2} = \chi_{\gamma}^{\text{eff}} \left(e^{\frac{-8\pi\varepsilon}{\ell}} \right). \tag{4.4}$$

These regulated Ishibashi states, once divided by their norm, define a basis of normalized states for the Hilbert space on S^2 pierced by $\alpha_{L,R}$ equipped with a finite norm:

$$\mathcal{H}_{S^{2}[\alpha_{L},\alpha_{R}]}^{(\varepsilon)} = \operatorname{span}\left\{\frac{|\gamma^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle\rangle}{n_{\gamma}} \mid m_{\alpha_{L}}^{\gamma}m_{\alpha_{R}}^{\gamma^{*}} \neq 0\right\}$$
(4.5)

From here on, when we write equations of the form (4.1), we will really have in mind their regulated versions defined with the same coefficients but taken with the orthonormal basis (4.5) equipped with finite norm:

$$|\psi\rangle\rangle \to |\psi^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle\rangle = \sum_{\gamma} \psi_{\gamma} (m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*}) \frac{|\gamma^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle\rangle}{n_{\gamma}}$$
(4.6)

The reduced density matrix is obtained by tracing out \mathcal{H}_{A^c} :

$$\rho_{\rm red}^{(\varepsilon)} = \sum_{\gamma} \frac{|\psi_{\gamma}|^2 (m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*})^2}{n_{\gamma}^2} \sum_{M} e^{-\frac{8\pi\varepsilon}{\ell} (h_{\rm eff}(\gamma) + N_M - \frac{c}{24})} |\gamma; M\rangle \langle\gamma; M|$$
(4.7)

where h_{eff} is the conformal dimension of $|\gamma; 0\rangle$ under L_0 and N_M is the grade of M.¹⁹ The resulting replica trace gives the character of the representation γ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{A}}\left(\rho_{\operatorname{red}}^{(\varepsilon)\,n}\right) = \sum_{\gamma} \frac{|\psi_{\gamma}|^{2n} (m_{\alpha_{L}}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_{R}^{*}}^{\gamma^{*}})^{2n}}{n_{\gamma}^{2n}} \chi_{\gamma}^{(\operatorname{eff})}\left(e^{-\frac{8\pi n\varepsilon}{\ell}}\right). \tag{4.8}$$

It is clear that the role of the regulator is to move a small distance away from the singular point $\tau = 0$ — effectively the regulator has fattened the interface into a torus. The characters appearing in the numerator and denominator (via n_{γ}^2) of (4.8) can be evaluated in the limit of $\varepsilon/\ell \to 0$ by performing a modular transformation; in the limit, only the identity representation of $\hat{\bar{g}}$ contributes to the sum:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon/\ell \to 0} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_A}\left(\rho_{\mathrm{red}}^{(\varepsilon)\,n}\right) = \sum_{\gamma} \frac{|\psi_{\gamma}|^{2n} (m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R}^{\gamma^*})^{2n}}{\left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0} e^{\frac{\pi c\ell}{48\varepsilon}}\right)^n} \left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0} e^{\frac{\pi c\ell}{48n\varepsilon}}$$
(4.9)

It follows that the n^{th} Rényi entropy is

$$S_{n} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \frac{\operatorname{Tr}\left(\rho_{\mathrm{red}}^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{n}}{\left(\operatorname{Tr}\rho_{\mathrm{red}}^{(\varepsilon)}\right)^{n}} = \frac{1+n}{n} \frac{\pi c\ell}{48\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left(\sum_{\gamma} |\psi_{\gamma}|^{2n} (m_{\alpha_{L}}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_{R}}^{\gamma^{*}})^{2n} \left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0}\right)^{1-n}\right) - \frac{n}{n-1} \log \left(\sum_{\gamma} |\psi_{\gamma}|^{2} (m_{\alpha_{L}}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_{R}}^{\gamma^{*}})\right)$$
(4.10)

¹⁹Recall that a weight space of an affine hight-weight representation is specified by r + 2 integers: the r Dynkin labels of its highest weight, its grade, and the level of the algebra. For an excellent and thorough review of affine algebras see [42].



Figure 5. The space of states on T^2 with a single patch (with connected boundary) of the R topological phase. A generic state can be heuristically thought of as being produced by a the interior path integral with an anyon α_L running around the non-contractible cycle of the torus. If the identity irrep of the R phase can branch to a non-trivial γ at the interface then it may be possible for it to pair with a β_L which can fuse with the interior anyon.

and the $n \to 1$ limit gives the corresponding von Neumann entropy:

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\pi c_L \ell}{24\varepsilon} + \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \log\left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0}\right) - \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \log p_{\gamma} \qquad p_{\gamma} \equiv \frac{|\psi_{\gamma}|^2 (m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*})^2}{\sum_{\gamma} |\psi_{\gamma}|^2 (m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*})^2}.$$
(4.11)

Thus we see that the correction to the area law is given by the weighted sum of topological entanglement entropies of the effective anyons threading the entangling surface plus the Shannon entropy of the coefficients of the choice of state. This feature is generic; in all examples that we examine below, we will see an analogous correction appears for each circular interface of the entangling surface.

4.2 T^2 with a single interface

Now we consider the scenario depicted in figure 5, where again the entanglement cut is taken at the interface surrounding the R topological phase. Within the extended Hilbert space approach, \mathcal{H}_A is the Hilbert space of a T^2 in the L topological phase subtracted a disc, while \mathcal{H}_{A^c} is the Hilbert space of the remaining disc (now in the R topological phase):

$$\mathcal{H}_{A} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_{L}\beta_{L}} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha_{L}\alpha_{L}^{*}}^{L} \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\beta_{L}] \qquad \mathcal{H}_{A^{c}} = \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[0] \qquad (4.12)$$

where \mathcal{N}^L are the fusion coefficients of the *L* topological phase²⁰ and \mathcal{H}_{S^1} is the Hilbert space defined on the right-hand side of (3.7). The space of gauge invariant states inside the extended Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A^c}$ is

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_L, \beta_L} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L \alpha_L^*}^{L \ \beta_L} m_{\beta_L}^{\gamma} m_{0_R}^{\gamma^*} \operatorname{span}\left\{ |\gamma\rangle\rangle^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}, \kappa_{\text{eff}}} \right\}$$
(4.13)

Note that the identity irrep, 0_R , appearing in \mathcal{H}_{A^c} can possibly branch into more than the identity representation of $\hat{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}}^{21}$. A generic state is given by

$$|\psi\rangle\rangle = \sum_{\alpha_L,\beta_L} \sum_{\gamma} \psi^{\gamma}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L} |\gamma\rangle\rangle_{\alpha_L,\beta_L} \qquad \sum_{\alpha_L,\beta_L} \sum_{\gamma} |\psi^{\gamma}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L}|^2 = 1 \qquad (4.14)$$

²⁰This result can be understood by thinking of $T^2 \setminus D^2$ as the gluing of an annulus to two of the holes of the "pair of pants": $S^2 \setminus (3D^2)$. The Hilbert space of the latter is a direct sum with coefficients given by \mathcal{N}^L , and the gluing to the annulus forces two of the indices to be conjugates of each other.

²¹For instance in **Example 2** of section 2.1 we saw that the identity of $\mathfrak{su}(3)_1$ can branch into both (2j = 0) and (2j = 4) of $\mathfrak{su}(2)_4$.

(recall that we mean this in the regulated sense by the replacement $|\gamma\rangle\rangle \rightarrow |\gamma^{(\varepsilon)}\rangle/n_{\gamma}$ explained in section 4.1). We leave implicit that the coefficients $\psi^{\gamma}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L}$ are nonzero for representations satisfying

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L \alpha_L^*}^{L \ \beta_L}, \ m_{\beta_L}^{\gamma}, \ m_{0_R}^{\gamma^*} \neq 0 \tag{4.15}$$

Additionally note that there might be multiple choices of α_L and β_L giving rise to the same irrep γ of $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ and so we label the Ishibashi state by its corresponding sector.

The entanglement entropy is given by

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\pi c\ell}{24\varepsilon} + \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \log\left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0}\right) - \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \log p_{\gamma} \qquad p_{\gamma} = \sum_{\alpha_L, \beta_L} |\psi_{\alpha_L, \beta_L}^{\gamma}|^2.$$
(4.16)

Let us briefly discuss the physics of this result: the identity of the R topological phase constrains the possible anyons appearing in the effective theory at the interface. This leads to a weighted sum of topological corrections to the area law. Although there might be multiple branching channels realizing the same effective anyon, the topological correction only detects the effective anyon threading the interface: the choice of branching channels only contributes to the Shannon term. Here we see the interface adds something novel: for single entanglement cuts on T^2 in homogenous theories it was found that every state in \mathcal{H}_{T^2} gives the same topological correction (again up to a Shannon term) [17, 56].

4.3 T^2 with two interfaces

Now we consider states on T^2 with two interfaces. There are two separate set-ups to consider; one with A^c disconnected (and each interface is contractible on the surface of T^2) and one where A^c is connected (and each interface runs around the meridian of T^2). We consider these cases separately.

4.3.1 A^c disconnected

We start with the case where the two interfaces separate disconnected islands $(R_1 \text{ and } R_2)$ within the *L* topological phase. This is depicted in figure 6. We are allowed to choose possibly distinct TBCs at each of these two interfaces and furthermore R_1 and R_2 can also host distinct topological phases. We now construct an extended Hilbert space for this set-up.

The Hilbert space factors are^{22}

$$\mathcal{H}_{A} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_{L},\beta_{L},\gamma_{L},\delta_{L}} \left(\mathcal{N}_{\alpha_{L}\beta_{L}^{*}}^{L} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha_{L}^{*}\beta_{L}}^{L} \delta_{L} \right) \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\gamma_{L}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\delta_{L}] \qquad \mathcal{H}_{A^{c}} = \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[0]_{1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[0]_{2}$$

$$(4.17)$$

The imposition of gauge invariance is wholly similar to the previous example and we are led to an extended Hilbert space of the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_L, \beta_L, \gamma_L, \delta_L, \sigma, \eta} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L \beta_L^*}^{L} \gamma_L m_{\gamma_L}^{\sigma} m_{0_{R_1}}^{\sigma^*} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L^* \beta_L}^{L} \delta_L m_{\delta_L}^{\eta} m_{0_{R_2}}^{\eta^*} \operatorname{span} \left\{ |\sigma\rangle\rangle^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_1, \kappa_{\mathrm{eff}, 1}} \otimes |\eta\rangle\rangle^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_2, \kappa_{\mathrm{eff}, 2}} \right\}$$

$$(4.18)$$

²²Again, the factor \mathcal{H}_A follows from thinking of $T^2 \setminus (2D^2)$ as gluing two "pairs of pants", $(S^2 \setminus (3D^2))$ along their legs. Each comes with their own fusion coefficient, and we must correctly identify the anyons running through the legs.



Figure 6. States on the torus with two contractible interfaces, separating the L topological phase from two "islands" in phases R_1 and R_2 .

A generic state in this Hilbert space is

$$|\psi\rangle\rangle = \sum_{\alpha_L,\beta_L,\gamma_L,\delta_L} \sum_{\sigma} \sum_{\eta} \psi^{\sigma,\eta}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L,\gamma_L,\delta_L} \left(|\sigma\rangle\rangle^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_1,\kappa_{\mathrm{eff},1}}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L,\gamma_L} \otimes |\eta\rangle\rangle^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_2,\kappa_{\mathrm{eff},2}}_{\alpha_L,\beta_L,\delta_L} \right)$$
(4.19)

where, as before, the coefficients, ψ , are non-zero only when fusion/branching is possible and chosen such that $|\psi\rangle\rangle$ is normalized. We also denote with subscripts (as we did before) the possibility of $|\sigma\rangle\rangle$ or $|\eta\rangle\rangle$ appearing in multiple sectors. We again find that the topological correction from the area law comes from a weighted sum over the possible "effective anyons" threading the interfaces plus a Shannon term coming from a choice of the state in the fusion/branching channels:

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\pi c\ell}{12\varepsilon} + \sum_{\sigma} \sum_{\eta} p(\sigma, \eta) \left(\log \left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 1} \right)_{\sigma}^{0} \right) + \log \left(\left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 2} \right)_{\eta}^{0} \right) \right) - \sum_{\sigma} \sum_{\eta} p(\sigma, \eta) \log p(\sigma, \eta)$$
(4.20)
with $p(\sigma, \eta) = \sum_{\alpha_L, \beta_L, \gamma_L, \delta_L} |\psi_{\alpha_L, \beta_L, \gamma_L, \delta_L}^{\sigma, \eta}|^2.$

4.3.2 A^c connected

As a final example, we consider the space of states on T^2 with two interfaces taken along the meridian (as depicted in figure 7). Since A^c is now connected, there is only one L phase and one R phase. However, we can still allow for possibly distinct TBCs at the separate interfaces. The extended Hilbert space is given by factors

$$\mathcal{H}_{A} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_{L}} \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\alpha_{L}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\alpha_{L}^{*}] \qquad \qquad \mathcal{H}_{A^{c}} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_{R}} \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\alpha_{R}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}[\alpha_{R}^{*}] \qquad (4.21)$$

and the quantum gluing determines the embedded Hilbert space to be

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_L, \alpha_R, \bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2} (m_{\alpha_L}^{\bar{\beta}_1} m_{\alpha_R}^{\bar{\beta}_1^*}) (m_{\alpha_L^*}^{\bar{\beta}_2} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\bar{\beta}_2^*}) \operatorname{span} \left\{ |\bar{\beta}_1\rangle \!\rangle^{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}_1, \kappa_{\mathrm{eff}, 1}} \otimes |\bar{\beta}_2\rangle \!\rangle^{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}_2, \kappa_{\mathrm{eff}, 2}} \right\}$$
(4.22)

A generic state in this Hilbert space will be of the form

$$|\psi\rangle\rangle = \sum_{\alpha_L,\alpha_R} \psi_{\alpha_L,\alpha_R}^{\bar{\beta}_1,\bar{\beta}_2} \left(|\bar{\beta}_1\rangle\rangle_{\alpha_L,\alpha_R}^{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}_1,\kappa_{\mathrm{eff},1}} \otimes |\bar{\beta}_2\rangle\rangle_{\alpha_L,\alpha_R}^{\bar{\mathfrak{g}}_2,\kappa_{\mathrm{eff},2}} \right)$$
(4.23)



Figure 7. The states on torus with two noncontractible interfaces can be generated by the path integral with Wilson line insertions α_L and α_R as long as they have mutual branching channels $\bar{\beta}_1$ and $\bar{\beta}_2$.

and its entanglement entropy is

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\pi c \ell}{12\varepsilon} + \sum_{\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2} p(\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2) \left(\log \left((\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 1})_{\bar{\beta}_1}^{\ 0} \right) + \log \left((\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 2})_{\bar{\beta}_2}^{\ 0} \right) \right) - \sum_{\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2} p(\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2) \log p(\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2).$$

$$(4.24)$$

with $p(\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2) = \sum_{\alpha_L, \alpha_R} |\psi_{\alpha_L, \alpha_R}^{\bar{\beta}_1, \bar{\beta}_2}|^2$.

5 Surgery

In this section, we describe how these results can be realized from surgery techniques. Surgery provides an independent method for evaluating the entanglement entropy by realizing the Rényi entropies as path integrals on replicated geometries. Here the full power of Chern-Simons theory as a topological field theory can be brought to bear: in [17], these techniques allowed the authors to extend the Kitaev-Preskill / Levin-Wen results [2, 3] to a wide variety of manifolds with a wide variety of entanglement cuts. This section is constructed in a similar spirit to that paper, although now with the inclusion of interfaces.

Before we describe this in detail, we will make a couple of remarks. Firstly, surgery, as a tool, typically uses a formal description of TQFT, and as such, the results of [17] naturally exclude the area term and calculate the TEE correction exactly. However since these corrections are inherently negative,²³ the interpretation of these replica path integrals as an entropy is dubious; it is the area law that guarantees positivity, even if it is non-universal. Secondly, the issue of the non-factorizability of the Hilbert space is completely ignored in these replica path integrals. When including interfaces, we will soon see that it will be necessary to regulate this formal description of surgery. While this regulator is introduced to mitigate interface intersections, it provides a natural UV regulator and we will see that through our "regulated surgery" an area law appears. This method, however, still does not address the second remark. At the end of section 5.1, we will draw a connection to

²³All of the statements in this section apply for compact groups, where S is a unitary matrix and as such $|S_0^{\alpha}| < 1$. Interestingly enough, this does not have to be true for non-compact groups. For instance, [57] continues the $S_{topo} = \log S_0^{\alpha}$ result to the non-compact $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ Chern-Simons theory and finds a positive value for this correction matching the BTZ Bekenstein-Hawking entropy.

the results of sections 3 and 4 which should be viewed as a more fine-grained, fundamental description of the entanglement across the interface. That said, surgery remains a powerful tool in the interface theory and complements the fine-grained calculations with geometric intuition; we will see it easily verifies the above results and we will give an example in the discussion (section 6) where surgery can evaluate S_{topo} when the corresponding extended Hilbert space description would be complicated.

Let us recall that the standard description of surgery is predicated by the fact that the dimension of the Chern-Simons Hilbert space on the two-sphere (possibly with two anyon punctures in conjugate representations) is one-dimensional:

$$\dim \mathcal{H}_{S^2} = 1. \tag{5.1}$$

With this fact we can write the overlap of any two-states $|\psi\rangle, |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{S^2}$ in terms of their overlap with any choice of fiducial state $|\chi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{S^2}$:

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \frac{\langle \phi | \chi \rangle \langle \chi | \psi \rangle}{\langle \chi | \chi \rangle} \tag{5.2}$$

When $|\psi\rangle$ and $|\phi\rangle$ are produced by the path integral on manifolds M_{ψ} and M_{ϕ} (with boundaries $\partial M_{\psi} = \partial M_{\phi} = S^2$) then the left-hand side of (5.2) is the path integral on the manifold $M_{\phi}^p \#_{S^2} M_{\psi}$ (here the "p" on M_{ϕ}^p indicates a flip in orientation). The right-hand side however is the multiplication of the path integrals on the $M_{\phi}^p \#_{S^2} M_{\chi}$ and $M_{\chi}^p \#_{S^2} M_{\psi}$ divided by $M_{\chi}^p \#_{S^2} M_{\chi}$. This is particularly nice when $|\chi\rangle$ is produced by the path integral on the interior of a three-ball (with possibly a pair of Wilson lines intersecting the boundary S^2). In this case we simply "cap off" the geometries M_{ϕ} and M_{ψ} (which we will denote \bar{M}_{ϕ} and \bar{M}_{ψ}) and divide by the expectation value of Wilson lines in S^3 . Using this iteratively, the path integral on any compact three-manifold can eventually be evaluated as a rational expression of path integrals on a handful of simple "ingredient" geometries (for instance $S^2 \times S^1$ and S^3).

Now we repeat this procedure for a three-manifold with interfaces. A natural guess for what should be done is to "cut" and "sew" along an interface, taking $|\chi\rangle$ to be produced on the 3-ball bisected by an interface. It turns out that this is not a very helpful approach, since when anyon punctures are included

$$\dim \mathcal{H}_{S^2[\alpha_L,\alpha_R]} = \mathcal{W}_{\alpha_L}{}^{\alpha_R} \tag{5.3}$$

which isn't necessarily one if the interface is non-trivial. The resolution to this is to always perform surgery along trivial interfaces (i.e., within a single topological phase) in such a way as to isolate the non-trivial interfaces within a simple manifold (say S^3). The price to pay with this is we now regard this S^3 as an input ingredient to the surgery and so need to evaluate it independently. Once that has been done, we can use this procedure to "chop down" any complicated three manifold with (isolated) interfaces into easily evaluated objects. Figure 8 is provided as an illustration of this procedure.



Figure 8. Manifolds M_L and M_R joined along an S^2 interface. We can take surgery cuts just to the left and right of the interface; the price we pay is that we have to independently evaluate the path integral on S^3 with an S^2 interface (here denoted $Z[S^3_{LR}]$).



Figure 9. (Left) The state prepared on the two-sphere with anyon punctures. The middle point of the Wilson lines tunnel the interface through the effective theory in a fixed \mathcal{R}_{γ} channel. (Middle) The reduced density matrix (obtained by suppressing the azymuthal and conformally mapping to the Euclidean plane). (Right) The replicated manifold representing $\text{Tr}\rho_{\text{red}}^n$. We are suppressing a dimension and so the intersection of the interfaces is inaccurately represented as two isolated points when they are actually a line fixed under the \mathbb{Z}_n replica symmetry.

5.1 S^2 : entanglement cut along the interface

Let us consider first the situation of a spatial two-sphere with an interface separating two anyon insertions α_L and α_R . As we stated above, there may be more than one state with this configuration depending on the branchings of α_L and α_R at the interface. We pick a particular state formed by the path integral inside the three ball with Wilson line insertions restricted to the representation \mathcal{R}_{γ} of $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ at the interface for some γ such that $m_{\alpha_L}^{\gamma} m_{\alpha_R^*}^{\gamma^*} \neq 0$. The replica path integral is S^3 with alternating wedges of L and R topological phases and a Wilson loop that tunnels through the interfaces in either the \mathcal{R}_{γ} or the \mathcal{R}_{γ^*} representations (depending on orientation). This is depicted as a cartoon in figure 9. We will call this object $Z_n \left[S_{LR}^3(\alpha_L, \alpha_R; \gamma)\right]$ or $Z_n \left[S_{LR}^3\right]$ for short.

It is clear from the geometry, that there is no meaningful way to surgically isolate the interfaces in the above path integral. This is because they intersect at the line fixed by replica symmetry. Because of this, $Z_n [S_{LR}^3]$ is the new independent ingredient we must supplement to the surgery method. As we will see in later sections, once we evaluate $Z_n [S_{LR}^3]$, we can use it to surgically evaluate a large number of replica geometries. To deal with the fixed line where the interfaces intersect, we will return to our reduced density



Figure 10. (Left) A cartoon of reduced density matrix with the tubular neighborhood removed. (Middle) The replica geometry; the mutual intersection of the interfaces has been regulated. (Right) The geometry after mapping to $S^1 \times D^2$. The Wilson threads this solid torus, intersecting the interfaces transversely.

matrix and excise a small tubular neighborhood of radius δ about this fixed line. The replica path integral is then over the manifold, $S_{LR}^3 \setminus \mathcal{N}_{n\delta}$. We will conformally map this to $D^2 \times S^1$ where D^2 is the Poincaré disc and the S^1 has geodesic length $2\pi n\delta$.²⁴ Without loss of generality, we will take the Wilson lines to thread through the origin of the Poincaré disc. This is illustrated in figure 10. To implement δ as a regulator, it is necessary to introduce a length scale, ℓ , as the perimeter of the D^2 . We will be interested in taking $\delta/\ell \to 0$ at the end of the computation.

Our expression for $Z_n[S_{LR}^3]$ is then

$$Z_n[S_{LR}^3] = \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \left\langle \prod_{q=1}^n \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \hat{W}_{\alpha_L}[\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \hat{W}_{\alpha_R}[\theta_{q+1/2}, \theta_{q+1}] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \right\rangle_{D^2 \times S^1}$$
(5.4)

where we write $\langle \cdot \rangle_{D^2 \times S^1}$ as short-hand for the insertion of the above into the path-integral on $D^2 \times S^1$ and *not* the expectation value in a fixed state; in particular, operator insertions can be permuted cyclicly around the S^1 . For the Wilson line insertions, the subscripts denote their associated representation and the endpoints are denoted in the brackets (it is implicit that $\theta_{n+1} \equiv \theta_1$). $\mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}$ is a projector onto the \mathcal{R}_{γ} representation of the subalgebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$. Since we are dealing with Wilson *line* operators, we pause to discuss possible issues of gauge invariance. Even under a proper gauge transformation (that is, one with support localized in the bulk of the $D^2 \times S^1$)

$$A^L \to g_L^{-1} \left(d + A^L \right) g_L \tag{5.5}$$

the Wilson line operator is not invariant: it responds by conjugation

$$\hat{W}_{\alpha_L}[\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}] \to \pi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}[g_L^{-1}(0, \theta_q)] \hat{W}_{\alpha_L}[\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}] \pi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}[g_L(0, \theta_{q+1/2})]$$
(5.6)

where $\pi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}[g_L]$ is the representation of g_L acting on \mathcal{R}_{α_L} . Wilson lines in the R phase respond to gauge transformations of A^R similarly. The TBCs, however, break the bulk

²⁴Although the theory is topological, this statement is easily seen with a cylindrically symmetric metric: $ds^2 = dz^2 + d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\theta^2 = \rho^2 \left(d\theta^2 + \frac{d\rho^2 + dz^2}{\rho^2} \right) \sim ds_{S^1}^2 + ds_{\mathbb{H}^2}^2$. Note that the $\rho = \delta$ boundary is mapped to the boundary of \mathbb{H}^2 . The hyperbolic half-plane \mathbb{H}^2 can then be mapped to Poincaré disc.

gauge invariance at the interfaces between these phases by identifying A^L with A^R through the isotropic subalgebra $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$. The unbroken gauge invariance preserves the TBCs: these are group elements limiting to the appropriate subgroup as they approach an interface. For instance, approaching the interface positioned at θ_q :

$$\lim_{\theta_L \to \theta_q} g_L(\theta_L) = \iota_L \circ \bar{g}(\theta_q) \qquad \qquad \lim_{\theta_R \to \theta_q} g_R(\theta_R) = \iota_R \circ \bar{g}(\theta_q) \qquad \qquad \bar{g} \in \exp \bar{\mathfrak{g}}. \tag{5.7}$$

Upon this restriction $\pi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}$ breaks up into irreps of this subgroup:

$$\pi_{\alpha_L}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L)}[\iota_L \circ \bar{g}] = \bigoplus_{\delta} \pi_{\delta}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}]$$
(5.8)

of which \mathcal{R}_{γ} appears in a particular block that is singled out by acting on $\mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}$. A similar statement holds for $\pi_{\alpha_R}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R)}$. Thus under generic gauge transformations preserving the TBCs, our expectation value (5.4) remains invariant:

$$Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}] \rightarrow \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \left\langle \prod_{q=1}^{n} \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \pi_{\alpha_{L}}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{L})}[g_{L}^{-1}(\theta_{q})] \hat{W}_{\alpha_{L}} \pi_{\alpha_{L}}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{L})}[g_{L}(\theta_{q+1/2})] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \pi_{\alpha_{R}}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{R})}[g_{R}^{-1}(\theta_{q+1/2})] \hat{W}_{\alpha_{R}} \pi_{\alpha_{R}}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{R})}[g_{R}(\theta_{q+1})] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \right\rangle_{D^{2} \times S^{1}}$$

$$= \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \left\langle \prod_{q=1}^{n} \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}^{-1}(\theta_{q})] \hat{W}_{\alpha_{L}} \pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}(\theta_{q+1/2})] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}^{-1}(\theta_{q+1/2})] \hat{W}_{\alpha_{R}} \pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}(\theta_{q+1})] \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \right\rangle_{D^{2} \times S^{1}}$$

$$= \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \left\langle \prod_{q=1}^{n} \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \hat{W}_{\alpha_{L}} \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \hat{W}_{\alpha_{R}} \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \right\rangle_{D^{2} \times S^{1}}$$
(5.9)

since $\pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}]\mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}\pi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}[\bar{g}^{-1}] = \mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})}$.

We will now evaluate (5.4). First we write out the projectors concretely,

$$\mathbb{P}_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} = \sum_{\bar{m}=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\bar{i}} |\gamma, \bar{m}, \bar{i}\rangle \langle \gamma, \bar{m}, \bar{i}|.$$
(5.10)

Here we are explicitly notating the *grade* of a state by \bar{m} ; a basis of states at this grade are labelled by \bar{i} . Sandwiching these projectors in between Wilson line operators, our task is to evaluate overlaps of the form

$$\langle \gamma, \bar{m}_1, \bar{i}_1 | \hat{W}_{\alpha_L}[\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}] | \gamma, \bar{m}_2, \bar{i}_2 \rangle \tag{5.11}$$

As noted in [58] the path integral of Chern-Simons theory along $D^2 \times [\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}]$, where the disc is punctured by a Wilson line in representation \mathcal{R}_{α_L} is equivalent to a chiral WZW path-integral on $S^1 \times [\theta_q, \theta_{q+1/2}]$; this path integral is over group elements fixed in the conjugacy glass of the group element dual to integral weight α_L . States of this theory furnish the representation \mathcal{R}_{α} . In this vein, we treat $\hat{W}_{\alpha}[x_q, y_q]$ as an unrestricted WZW transition amplitude in the α_L sector. As written, this boundary theory has no Hamiltonian and as such the expectation value (5.4) diverges. We will supplement this transition amplitude with the CFT Hamiltonian,²⁵ $H^{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L} = \frac{2\pi}{\ell} \left(L_0^{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L} - \frac{c_L}{24} \right)$. Thus we arrive at

$$\sum_{n_{1},n_{2}} \sum_{j_{1},j_{2}} \langle \gamma, \bar{m}_{1}, \bar{i}_{1} | \alpha_{L}, n_{1}, j_{1} \rangle \langle \alpha_{L}, n_{1}, j_{1} | e^{-\delta \boldsymbol{H}^{\hat{\mathfrak{s}}_{L}}} | \alpha_{L}, n_{2}, j_{2} \rangle \langle \alpha_{L}, n_{2}, j_{2} | \gamma, \bar{m}_{2}, \bar{i}_{2} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{n_{1}} \sum_{j_{1}} \langle \gamma, \bar{m}_{1}, \bar{i}_{1} | \alpha_{L}, n_{1}, j_{1} \rangle e^{-\frac{2\pi\delta}{\ell} \left(h_{\alpha_{L}} + n_{1} - \frac{c_{L}}{24}\right)} \langle \alpha_{L}, n_{1}, j_{1} | \gamma, \bar{m}_{2}, \bar{i}_{2} \rangle$$
(5.12)

Now let us look at the overlap $\langle \gamma, \bar{m}_1, \bar{i}_1 | \alpha_L, n_1, j_1 \rangle$. The representation \mathcal{R}_{γ} appears in the restriction of \mathcal{R}_{α_L} and so the state $|\gamma, \bar{m}_1, \bar{i}_1 \rangle$ appears at a particular grade of \mathcal{R}_{α_L} . Let us call this grade $n_{\bar{m}}$. The nature of the conformal embedding is such that $L_0^{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_L}$ acts on states of the $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ CFT as $L_0^{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}}$ and so

$$h_{\alpha_L} + n_{\bar{m}} = h_\gamma + \bar{m}.\tag{5.13}$$

Within the grades $n_{\bar{m}}$ and \bar{m} there will be some rectangular change of basis matrix $\mathbb{M}^{(n_{\bar{m}})}$:

 $\langle \gamma, \bar{m}_1, \bar{i}_1 | \alpha_L, n_1, j_1 \rangle = \delta_{n_1, n_{\bar{m}_1}} \mathbb{M}_{\bar{i}_1}^{j_1}$ (5.14)

We will require that states of \mathcal{R}_{γ} sit in the representation \mathcal{R}_{α_L} isometrically such that

$$\delta_{\bar{m}_{1},\bar{m}_{2}}\delta_{\bar{i}_{1},\bar{i}_{2}} = \langle \gamma, \bar{m}_{1}, \bar{i}_{1} | \gamma, \bar{m}_{2}, \bar{i}_{2} \rangle = \sum_{n} \sum_{j} \langle \gamma, \bar{m}_{1}, \bar{i}_{1} | \alpha_{L}, n, j \rangle \langle \alpha_{L}, n, j | \gamma, \bar{m}_{2}, \bar{i}_{2} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{n,j} \delta_{n,n_{\bar{m}_{1}}} \delta_{n,n_{\bar{m}_{2}}} \mathbb{M}_{\bar{i}_{1}}{}^{j} \mathbb{M}_{\bar{i}_{2}}^{*\,j}$$
(5.15)

Putting these facts together we have the following expression for (5.11):

$$\sum_{n} \sum_{j} \delta_{n,n_{\bar{m}_{1}}} \delta_{n,n_{\bar{m}_{2}}} \mathbb{M}_{\bar{i}_{1}}{}^{j} \mathbb{M}_{\bar{i}_{2}}^{*\,j} e^{-\frac{2\pi\delta}{\ell}(h_{\gamma}+\bar{m}_{1}-\frac{\bar{c}}{24})} = \delta_{\bar{m}_{1},\bar{m}_{2}} \delta_{\bar{i}_{1},\bar{i}_{2}} e^{-\frac{2\pi\delta}{\ell}(h_{\gamma}+\bar{m}_{1}-\frac{\bar{c}}{24})}$$
(5.16)

This is precisely the expression we would have arrived at evaluating the transition amplitude of a Wilson line in representation \mathcal{R}_{γ} within a $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ Chern-Simons theory from the beginning. By similar arguments we have for the *R*-phase Wilson lines

$$\langle \gamma, \bar{m}_2, \bar{i}_2 | \hat{W}_{\alpha_R}[\theta_{q+1/2}, \theta_{q+1}] | \gamma, \bar{m}_3, \bar{i}_3 \rangle = \delta_{\bar{m}_2, \bar{m}_3} \delta_{\bar{i}_2, \bar{i}_3} e^{-\frac{2\pi\delta}{\ell} \left(h_\gamma + \bar{m}_2 - \frac{\bar{c}}{24}\right)}$$
(5.17)

Again this expression follows precisely because $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ is conformally embedded into $\hat{\mathbf{g}}_R$ and \mathcal{R}_{γ} appears in the restriction of \mathcal{R}_{α_R} . Putting this all together we arrive at

$$Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}] = \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \prod_{q=1}^{n} \sum_{\bar{m}_{q}} \sum_{\bar{i}_{q}} \delta_{\bar{m}_{q},\bar{m}_{q+1}} \delta_{\bar{i}_{q},\bar{i}_{q+1}} e^{-\frac{4\pi\delta}{\ell} \left(h_{\gamma} + \bar{m}_{q} - \frac{\bar{c}}{24}\right)} \equiv \lim_{\delta/\ell \to 0} \chi_{\gamma}^{(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})} \left(e^{\frac{-8\pi\,n\delta}{\ell}}\right)$$
(5.18)

²⁵This corresponds to the addition of the boundary term $S_{\text{bndy}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D_2 \times I} \kappa_L (A_L, \wedge * A_L)$ to the fictitious cutoff surface. Note that this boundary term introduces a metric on the cutoff surface and a corresponding geodesic length, ℓ , around the circle; we shall see that this term is responsible for the area law.



Figure 11. The state on the torus and (middle) the same state redrawn suggestively. (Right) The three-manifold of the replica path integral.

Thus our path-integral in question is a character of \mathcal{R}_{γ} in the effective subalgebra. Taking $\delta/\ell \to 0$, we recover the expected answer

$$Z_n[S^3[\alpha_L, \alpha_R; \gamma]] = \left(S^{\text{eff}}\right)_{\gamma}^{0} e^{\frac{\pi \bar{c}\ell}{48n\delta}}$$
(5.19)

That we arrived at this answer is probably no surprise: one might notice that if one views the projector (5.10) as a maximally mixed (unnormalized) density matrix over the \mathcal{R}_{γ} representation, then its purification is *precisely the Ishibashi state* $|\gamma\rangle\rangle$. Thus while in this computation, Z_n is akin to a thermal partition function, the computations in section 4.1 are the analogous computation using a pure-state purification.

5.2 T^2 with a single interface

Now we repeat the calculation of section 4.2 from the viewpoint of surgery. For convenience, in figure 11, we recall the path integral picture for the state, as well as what the replicated geometry schematically looks like. Unlike section 4.2, we will choose a state fixed by a *specific choice* of α_L , β_L and γ illustrated on the left of figure 11.

Let us see how to deal with the handles in the right subfigure of figure 11. We first "cut" at the midway point of the handle by inserting the one dimensional projector on $\mathcal{H}_{S^2[\alpha_L,\alpha_L^*]}$ (i.e., the two-sphere punctured by α_L and α_L^*). By pulling the handle away from the "beachball", we "cut" through the β_L lines in the same way. This is depicted in greater detail in figure 12. This isolates the α_L and β_L fusion vertex within a single S^3 . Let us comment on this fusion vertex. We will write this as an overlap of states on the two-sphere with a triple puncture (by supposition of $\mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L\alpha_L^*}^L \neq 0$, this Hilbert space is non-empty)

$$\langle \alpha_L, \alpha_L^*, \beta_L |_{S^2} | \alpha_L, \alpha_L^*, \beta_L \rangle_{S^2} \equiv |\Psi_{\alpha_L, \alpha_L^*, \beta_L}|^2.$$
(5.20)

If $\mathcal{N}_{\alpha_L \alpha_L^*}^{L} {}^{\beta_L} > 1$, then this overlap is ambiguous: we need to specify the fusion channel. This is in fact data we need to supplement to completely specify our original state depicted in the left panel of figure 11. We will suppose this data has been fixed. Regardless, as we shall soon see, this ambiguity does not enter into the Rényi entropy.

Doing this for each handle, we find the following expression for the Rényi path-integral

$$Z_{n} = \frac{Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}[\beta_{L}, 0; \gamma]] |\Psi_{\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{L}^{*}, \beta_{L}}|^{2n}}{\left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\alpha_{L}]]\right)^{n} \left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\beta_{L}]]\right)^{n}}$$
(5.21)



Figure 12. (Left) One of the handles from the right subfigure of figure 11, with S^2 surgery performed at the indicated locations. (Right) The equivalent path-integral expression.

where $Z[S_L^3[\alpha_L]] = S_{\alpha_L}^{L^{0}}$ is the path-integral on the three-sphere with an unknotted Wilson loop in the α_L representation. As promised, the overlap $|\Psi_{\alpha_L,\alpha_L^*,\beta_L}|^2$ does not affect the Rényi entropies and we only pick up the contribution from the effective anyon, γ , at the interface:

$$S_{n} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \frac{Z_{n}}{Z_{1}^{n}} = \frac{1}{1-n} \left(\log Z_{n} [S_{LR}^{3}[\beta_{L}, 0; \gamma]] - n \log Z_{1} [S_{LR}^{3}[\beta_{L}, 0; \gamma]] \right)$$
$$= \frac{1+n}{n} \frac{\pi \bar{c} \ell}{48\delta} + \log \left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}} \right)_{\gamma}^{0}$$
(5.22)

This is consistent with the results from section 4.2: regardless of the branching channel from which it appears, the topological correction only knows about which effective anyon, γ , threads the interface.

5.3 T^2 with two interfaces

Now we consider states on the torus with two interfaces, evaluating the surgical expressions for each of the two possible configurations separately.

5.3.1 A^c disconnected

First, we revisit the setup of section 4.3.1. On the left of subfigure of 13 we depict a path-integral preparation of a given state. Again we are fixing a *particular set* $\{\alpha_L, \beta_L, \gamma_L, \delta_L, \sigma, \eta\}$ appearing in the fusion and branching channels. On the right of the same figure we give a schematic visualization of the replica path integral.

The procedure for simplifying this is similar to the last section and we find the following expression for the replica path integral:

$$Z_{n} = \frac{Z_{n}[S_{LR_{1}}^{3}[\gamma_{L}, 0; \sigma]]Z_{n}[S_{LR_{2}}^{3}[\delta_{L}, 0; \eta]] |\Psi_{\alpha_{L}, \beta_{L}^{*}, \delta_{L}}|^{2n} |\Psi_{\alpha_{L}^{*}, \beta_{L}, \gamma_{L}}|^{2n}}{\left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\alpha_{L}]]\right)^{n} \left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\beta_{L}]\right)^{n} \left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\gamma_{L}]]\right)^{n} \left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\delta_{L}]]\right)^{n}}$$
(5.23)

Again we see that the overlaps $|\Psi_{\dots}|^2$ do not contribute to the Rényi entropies which are



Figure 13. (Left) The state on the torus and (middle) the same state redrawn suggestively. (Right) The three-manifold of the replica path integral.

completely controlled by the effective anyons at each interface:

$$S_{n} = \frac{1}{1-n} \left(\log Z_{n} [S_{LR_{1}}^{3} [\gamma_{L}, 0; \sigma]] - n \log Z_{1} [S_{LR_{1}}^{3} [\gamma_{L}, 0; \sigma]] + \log Z_{n} [S_{LR_{2}}^{3} [\delta_{L}, 0; \eta]] - n \log Z_{1} [S_{LR_{2}}^{3} [\delta_{L}, 0; \eta]] \right)$$

$$= \frac{1+n}{n} \frac{\pi \bar{c} \ell}{24\delta} + \log (\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 1})_{\sigma}^{0} + \log (\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff}, 2})_{\eta}^{0}$$
(5.24)

as was expected from section 4.3.1.

5.3.2 A^c connected

Finally we revisit the states described in section 4.3.2. The path integral picture of the state is recalled on the left of figure 14, while the replica path integral is schematically drawn on the right of the same figure. As before, we are fixing the anyon content to a particular set appearing in the fusion and branching channels.

Surgically removing the S^2 handles from the geometry we have the following expression for the replica path integral:

$$Z_{n} = \frac{Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{1}]] Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{2}]]}{\left(Z[S_{L}^{3}[\alpha_{L}]]\right)^{n} \left(Z[S_{R}^{3}[\alpha_{R}]]\right)^{n}}$$
(5.25)

and consequently the expression for the Rényi entropies,

$$S_{n} = \frac{1}{1-n} \left(\log \frac{Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{1}]]}{\left(Z_{1}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{1}]]\right)^{n}} + \log \frac{Z_{n}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{2}]]}{\left(Z_{1}[S_{LR}^{3}[\alpha_{L}, \alpha_{R}; \bar{\beta}_{2}]]\right)^{n}} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1+n}{n} \frac{\pi \bar{c}\ell}{24\delta} + \log \left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff},1}\right)_{0}^{\bar{\beta}_{1}} + \log \left(\mathcal{S}^{\text{eff},2}\right)_{0}^{\bar{\beta}_{2}}$$
(5.26)

which matches our results from section 4.3.2.



Figure 14. (Left) The state on the torus and (middle) the same state redrawn suggestively. (Right) The three-manifold of the replica path integral.

6 Discussion

In this paper, we have extended the story of gapped interfaces in Chern-Simons theory found in [1] in several different directions. First, in considering non-Abelian theories we showed that the topological boundary conditions of the Abelian theories carry over in a natural way and allow us to define the notion of isotropic interfaces. We addressed how these boundary conditions affect the anyon excitations of the theory as the interface is approached; this is consistent with other descriptions in the literature [14, 15]. We have also explained how these boundary conditions fit into a resolution to the obstruction of Hilbert space factorization in gauge theories by providing a definition of an extended Hilbert space. From this we were able to compute the entanglement entropy across an interface, agreeing with the results of [14]. We have also extended our analysis away from states defined on the two-sphere. Although our examples stopped at interfaces on a torus, in principle the construction of extended Hilbert spaces that we provide in appendix A gives a clear road map for similar calculations on any Riemann surface. We then outlined a notion of surgery for interface theories and used this alternative perspective to verify our previous results. There are several natural open avenues for research that we describe below.

Further utilizing surgery. Although the above section on surgery is presented as a novel verification of the exact results from the extended Hilbert space approach, we remark that the full "power of topology" found in surgery methods was not leveraged in this paper. Indeed one can envision configurations of interfaces and entangling surfaces, while easy to manipulate as Rényi path integrals, whose states are difficult to describe analytically inside an extended Hilbert space. One such scenario is an entangling surface passing through, say, p interfaces transversely (while possibly leaving q interfaces as spectators). One such configuration on the plane is pictured in figure 15. For this simple case we can easy use



Figure 15. (Left) The state on the plane has p + q interfaces, and we take the entangling surface to pass through p of them transversely. The replica manifold (Right) is easy to describe as a three-sphere with p + nq islands.

surgery to evaluate the Rényi path integral as

$$Z_{n} = \frac{Z[S_{L}^{3}] \prod_{i=1}^{p} Z[S_{LR_{i}}^{3}[\mathcal{I}_{i}]] \prod_{j=1}^{q} Z[S_{LR_{j}}^{3}[\mathcal{I}_{j}]]^{n}}{Z[S_{L}^{3}]^{p+nq}}$$
$$S_{n} = (1-p) \log \left(\mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_{L})}{}_{0}^{0} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \log \left(\mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_{\text{eff}}^{(\mathcal{I}_{i})})}{}_{0}^{0} \right).$$
(6.1)

We see that the q spectator interfaces add no contribution to the Rényi entropy as expected, but we also get an interesting dependence on the p transversely intersected interfaces as well as the background κ_L phase. It will be interesting to include anyon punctures into this story and see if we can understand and extend the results of [15] from the effective field theory perspective. We leave this to future work.

Algebraic entropy. We have heavily employed the notion of an extended Hilbert space to construct the Hilbert spaces of these interface theories and to define and compute their entanglement entropy. Let us make some comments as to whether these results can be similarly interpreted in terms of the complementary *algebraic entropy* program [23].

Recall that instead of positing a Hilbert space sub-region factorization, this program instructs one to define a local algebra of operators, \mathcal{A}_A , associated to a sub-region, A. A direct consequence of non-factorization is that such local algebras generically have a non-trivial intersection with their commutant. Note that there may be more than one choice of algebra associated to a region and hence more than one choice for the resulting center. Instead of embedding the state in an extended space, one performs the following. Given a state ρ , there exists a unique "reduced state" $\rho_A \in \mathcal{A}_A$ reproducing all expectation values in A:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\rho_{A}\mathcal{O}_{A}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\rho\mathcal{O}_{A}\right) \qquad \quad \forall \mathcal{O}_{A} \in \mathcal{A}_{A}.$$

$$(6.2)$$

 ρ_A can be block-diagonalized with respect to the center:

$$\rho_A = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \rho_1 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \rho_2 & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_i} \rho_i = 1 \qquad \sum_i \lambda_i = 1. \tag{6.3}$$

with \mathcal{H}_i a particular eigenspace of the center. The von Neumann entropy of ρ_A then has a natural split into the weighted sum of the von Neumann entropies associated to each ρ_i and



Figure 16. In a homogeneous $\mathfrak{su}(2)_k$ theory, j and j uniquely fuse to the identity operator as $\delta \to 0$. Thus Wilson loop operators acting the edge of A can be represented as an operator acting on the edge of A^c .

a Shannon entropy arising from the classical distribution, $\{\lambda_i\}$, with respect to the central eigenspaces. The relation between the extended Hilbert space, possible definitions for local algebras, and replica path integrals (which seems to ignore both subtleties) has begun to be explored [59, 60]. One might guess that the finite dimensionality of Chern-Simons' Hilbert spaces makes this an ideal arena in which to explore these relations.

Indeed, intuition suggests a natural center generated by Wilson line operators parallel to the entangling surface, however the dimensionality of the Hilbert spaces on Riemann surfaces seems to be too restrictive to make this idea fruitful. As a trivial example, on the two-sphere dim $\mathcal{H}_{S^2} = 1$, and the *entire* operator algebra is proportional to the identity operator. Thus, for instance, if we declare \mathcal{A}_A to be Wilson loop operators acting exclusively on the northern hemisphere, the center is both trivial and everything.

For states on the torus, the Hilbert space is more non-trivial and labelled by integrable representations, $\mathcal{H}_{T^2} = \{|\alpha\rangle\}$. The operator algebra acting on \mathcal{H}_{T^2} is the universal algebra generated by Wilson loops acting on the meridian and on the longitude of the surface of the torus:

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{U}\left[\hat{W}_{\beta}^{(m)}, \hat{W}_{\gamma}^{(\ell)}\right]$$
(6.4)

Now consider the bipartition of T^2 with two non-contractible entangling surfaces similar to section 4.3.2 (for simplicity in the homogenous theory). A natural declaration of the algebra for the A region is the one generated by meridian Wilson operators acting on that region

$$\mathcal{A}_A = \mathcal{U}\left[\left. \hat{W}_{\beta}^{(m)} \right|_{m \in A} \right] \tag{6.5}$$

as depicted in figure 17.

The problem is that these operators already act diagonally on the standard basis of states [61]:

$$\hat{W}_{\beta}^{(m)}|\alpha\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{S}_{\beta}^{\ \alpha}}{\mathcal{S}_{0}^{\ \alpha}}|\alpha\rangle \tag{6.6}$$



Figure 17. States on the torus can be prepared via the interior path integral with a longitudinal Wilson line insertion (α in this figure). For this particular bipartition, a natural candidate for \mathcal{A}_A is generated by meridian Wilson loop operators acting in the A region (depicted here in red).

so while it is possible to construct a "reduced" matrix strictly from Wilson loop operators acting in the A region that reproduces all the expectation values of a state $|\alpha\rangle$:

$$\rho_A^{(\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\gamma} \left(\mathcal{S}_0^{\alpha} \, \mathcal{S}_{\gamma}^{\dagger \alpha} \, \hat{W}_{\gamma}^{(m)} + \text{h.c.} \right) \in \mathcal{A}_A \tag{6.7}$$

it is easy to see that this reduced density matrix is in fact the full density matrix and its von Neumann entropy vanishes. Of course the origin of this annoyance is the fact that the operators appearing in (6.5) are identical to meridian operators acting *in any region*. This is because the theory is topological.

It is curious that in this case, where the extended Hilbert space description works out so well, the algebraic approach seems to yield no leverage. The center that we described above is akin to the "magnetic center" described in [23]; in the topological \mathbb{Z}_2 lattice gauge theory, the authors also found zero algebraic entropy for this choice of center. In that paper, the authors also constructed an "electric center" correctly reproducing both the area law and the TEE. However this center seems to only be available in the microscopic description (and not, say, from the effective $K = 2\sigma_x$ Abelian Chern-Simons theory [62]). In general, without embedding the Chern-Simons theory into some larger Hilbert space, we expect that the algebraic entropy corresponding to a bipartition of a closed surface cannot reproduce the TEE. We can understand this, heuristically, from the following reasoning: the TEE is an intrinsically *negative* contribution and can only appear in an entropic quantity because it is subleading to a *divergent* area law. It is then unclear how this can appear from the algebraic entropy which is (i) *positive* by definition, and (ii) bounded above by $\log \dim \mathcal{H}$ and therefore *finite*. Setups where the algebraic approach could possibly yield interesting results will be a subject of future research. This includes states on surfaces with boundary (such that dim $\mathcal{H} = \infty$) and Chern-Simons theories with a non-compact gauge group.

AdS₃/CFT₂. These questions lead to another natural area of inquiry: the AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence. Investigations in this direction were initiated in [63] for Abelian Chern-Simons theories propagating on AdS. Our construction of isotropic interfaces for non-Abelian theories allows for deeper questioning. Indeed, the bulk matterless theory itself has a natural description in terms of two SL(2, \mathbb{R}) Chern-Simons connections. This fact makes three-dimensional holography an ideal testing ground for exploring questions of bulk entanglement and bulk factorization (or more precisely, the lack thereof). Interesting work

has already appeared in this direction [29]. It would be interesting if our construction (with suitable generalization), can provide precise realizations of entanglement wedge reconstruction, quantum error correction, and the "area operator" in 3d holography. Additionally we hope inquiries along these lines can shed light on recent appearances of Ishibashi(-like) states in AdS_3/CFT_2 and what role they play in both entanglement and Wilson line expectation values [64–67]. A challenge to these follows-up is the extension of this work to non-compact gauge groups. This is a non-trivial and interesting subject in its own right.

After the present work was completed, ref. [68] appeared, which explores an interesting example of non-Abelian interfaces between distinct Moore-Read states.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Taylor Hughes and Onkar Parrikar for useful discussions at the onset of this work. JRF and RGL are supported by the United States Department of Energy QuantISED program, under contract DE-SC0019517. JRF is also supported by the ERC Starting Grant GenGeoHol.

A Hilbert space construction and ground state degeneracy

In this appendix we explore the role of our extended Hilbert space construction as a regulated form of the "gluing" procedure familiar in axiomatic TQFT. That is to say, it provides an identification of the constituent Hilbert spaces (as an extended, tensor product space) and the final product manifold Hilbert space (as an embedded Hilbert space). This prescription is both precise and effective: below we show that it can reproduce the known ground state degeneracy (GSD) of the field theory on a Riemann surface and then also extend it to Riemann surfaces with isolated interfaces. In fact, for this latter case, the extended Hilbert space *provides a principled definition* of the Hilbert space of these theories, reproducing the ground state degeneracy (GSD) counting in [33].

Homogenous theories. Let us begin with a homogeneous theory on a Riemann surface, Σ_g , of genus g. As a brief description, we want to decompose this Riemann surface into a collection of simpler surfaces with circular boundaries. Associated to each circular boundary is a WZW Hilbert space in a fixed conformal module (intuitively the primary associated with an anyon threading the circle) and the Hilbert space on the surface is given by the fusion space of these conformal primaries. The full Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{Σ_g} will be realized as an embedded subspace of the tensor product of the constituent Hilbert spaces; this subspace is isolated by the kernel of appropriate gapping operators. To be specific, let's try to realize Σ_g as a two-sphere with 2g circular boundaries glued to g annuli. The extended Hilbert space prescription tells us to realize \mathcal{H}_{Σ_g} as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_g} \hookrightarrow \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_g} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S^2 \setminus (D^2)^{2g}} \otimes \left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^g \mathcal{H}_{S_i^2 \setminus (D^2)^2} \right)$$
(A.1)

where each factor is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{S^2 \setminus (D^2)^n} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n} \left(\mathcal{V}_{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n} \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\mathfrak{g}_k}}[\alpha_1] \otimes \dots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\mathfrak{g}_k}}[\alpha_n] \right)$$
(A.2)

where $\mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\mathfrak{g}_k}}[\alpha]$ is an infinite dimensional module of the $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_k$ Kăc-Moody with affine weight α and $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_n}$ is the fusion space of the conformal primaries labelled $\{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_n\}$ (or equivalently the Hilbert space dimension of the S^2 punctured by sources $\{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_n\}$); it is a finite number. The above embedding is uniquely specified by restoring bulk gauge invariance of the CS theory on Σ_g ; this is enforced at each circular boundary. Without loss of generality, let us pick an ordering of the holes on the sphere into pairs (labelled by an index *i*) that will be matched with a particular constituent annulus (also labelled by *i*). Then to be precise

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_g} = \ker \left\{ \mathbb{Q}_i^{1,2} \right\}_{i=1,\dots,g} \tag{A.3}$$

where $\mathbb{Q}_{i_{1,2}}$ is shorthand for a collection of operators

$$\mathbb{Q}_{i}^{1} \equiv (\underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \ldots \otimes \underbrace{\mathcal{J}_{a,n} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \ldots}_{i} \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \ldots}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \ldots}_{i}) + (\underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \ldots}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \ldots \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \ldots \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}}_{i} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \underbrace{\mathbb{1$$

This kernel forces an identification of the Kăc-Moody weights at the glued interfaces. It is instructive to focus on the action of (A.4) (ignoring the extraneous 1's) on a particular block in the decomposition of (A.2)

$$\ker \left\{ \mathcal{J}_{a,n} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{J}_{a,-n} \right\} \Big|_{rest.} \subset \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_k}}[\alpha] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_k}}[\beta] \equiv \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{S^2[\alpha,\beta^*]}$$
(A.5)

and note that it is precisely how we described the embedded Hilbert space of a two-sphere decomposed into two hemipheres punctured by anyons α and β^* . Hence the dimension of this kernel is dim (ker $(\mathcal{J}_{a,n} \otimes \mathcal{J}_{a,-n})$) = dim $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{S^2[\alpha,\beta^*]} = \delta_{\alpha,\beta}$. Thus the gluing operators pick out a unique state (per primary module) at each circular interface. This construction of $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_q}$ is heuristically correct; indeed we can now count the GSD at genus g:

$$\dim \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_g} = \sum_{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_g, \alpha_1^*, \alpha_2^*, \dots, \alpha_g^*}.$$
 (A.6)

Let us massage the above fusion space by fusing $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g\}$ into the representation γ and similarly $\{\alpha_1^*, \ldots, \alpha_q^*\}$ into γ^* :

$$\dim \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_g} = \sum_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_g} \sum_{\gamma} \mathcal{N}^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_g} \mathcal{N}^{\gamma^*}{}_{\alpha_1^* \dots \alpha_g^*}$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_g} \sum_{\gamma} \sum_{\beta_1, \beta_2} \frac{1}{\left(\mathcal{S}_0{}^{\beta_1}\right)^{g-1}} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_1}{}^{\beta_1} \dots \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_g}{}^{\beta_1} \mathcal{S}^{\dagger}{}_{\beta_1}{}^{\gamma} \frac{1}{\left(\mathcal{S}_0{}^{\beta_2}\right)^{g-1}} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_1^*}{}^{\beta_2} \dots \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_g^*}{}^{\beta_2} \mathcal{S}^{\dagger}{}_{\beta_2}{}^{\gamma^*}$$
$$= \sum_{\beta} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{S}_0{}^{\beta}|^{2g-2}} \tag{A.7}$$

where the second line follows from the Verlinde formula [54] and the third from the unitarity of the modular S matrix.

Interface theories. Now we move to theories defined on Hilbert spaces with isolated interfaces (that we will for simplicity, take to be circular) that we will index by the pair A, B: $\{\mathcal{I}_{AB}\}$. Given the discussion of the paper the generalization is entirely clear: each interface \mathcal{I}_{AB} is determined by a topological boundary condition that i) maps the current algebras on either side to a consistent diagonal subalgebra $\hat{\mathbf{g}}$ and ii) determines the set of permeable anyons through their mutually nonzero branching channels upon restriction to representations of $\bar{\mathbf{g}}$; the latter is enumerated by branching coefficients and the sum of these channels are the tunneling matrices $\mathcal{W}^{(\mathcal{I}_{AB})}$.

Now let us imagine a Riemann surface, Σ_{total} , constructed from a collection of compact two-manifolds Σ_A residing in topological phases whose low-energy descriptions are \mathfrak{g}_A CS theories (with level-Killing forms κ_{A_i}) by gluing them along their circular interfaces (here labelled by the index *i*), { $\mathcal{I}_{A_iB_i}$ }. As we saw above, this itself is a non-trivial affair. Every pair (Σ_A, Σ_B) that are glued together along a boundary must be commensurate, that is they must support an isotropic subalgebra. If there are several choices of subalgebras then one must be specified. We will assume that these details have been sorted and describe the resulting Hilbert space.

The Hilbert space of each constituent Σ_A is simple enough to describe:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_{A}} = \bigoplus_{\alpha_{A,1},\alpha_{A,2},\dots} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha_{A,1},\alpha_{A,2},\dots}^{(\Sigma_{A})} \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{A},\kappa_{A}}}[\alpha_{1}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^{1}}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{A},\kappa_{A}}}[\alpha_{A,2}] \otimes \dots$$
(A.8)

where $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha_{A,1},\alpha_{A,2},\ldots}^{(\Sigma_A)}$ is the fusion space of the compact manifold formed from Σ_A by shrinking its circular boundaries to anyon punctures with the respective representation. Following the discussion in section 3.1 and the preceding section, the Hilbert space on Σ_{total} should be realized as the embedded space

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_{\text{total}}} \subset \bigotimes_{\{A_i\}} \mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_{A_i}} \bigotimes_{\{B_i\}} \mathcal{H}_{\Sigma_{B_i}}$$
(A.9)

defined by the gapping operators given in section 3.1:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_{\text{total}}} = \ker \left\{ \mathbb{Q}_{A_i, B_i} \right\} \qquad \mathbb{Q}_{A_i, B_i} \sim \left(v_{A_i}^t \cdot \kappa_A \cdot \mathcal{J}^{A_i} \right)_m \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i} + \mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \left(v_{B_i}^t \cdot \kappa_{B_i} \cdot \mathcal{J}^{B_i} \right)_{-m}$$
(A.10)

where by "~" we leave implicit all the 1's acting on the additional tensor factors. As we have seen the kernel of a particular \mathbb{Q}_{A_i,B_i} is spanned by Ishibashi states of the effective Kăc-Moody algebra $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_{(A_i,B_i)}$ with level-Killing form $\kappa_{\text{eff},(A_i,B_i)} = v_{A_i}^t \cdot \kappa_{A_i} \cdot v_{A_i} = v_{B_i}^t \cdot \kappa_{B_i} \cdot v_{B_i}$ where the Ishibashi states in question are primary states associated to mutually nonzero branching channels. In principle, once the topological boundary conditions have been specified, this data uniquely determines this span of effective Ishibashi states and we can regard (A.10) as *definition* of the full Hilbert space.

The counting of the associated GSD is facilitated by again noting that \mathbb{Q}_{A_i,B_i} restricted to a fixed block appearing in (A.8):

$$\ker \left\{ \left(v_{A_i}^t \cdot \kappa_{A_i} \cdot \mathcal{J}^{A_i} \right)_n \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes \left(v_{B_i}^t \cdot \kappa_{B_i} \cdot \mathcal{J}^{B_i} \right)_{-n} \right\} \Big|_{\text{rest.}}$$

$$\subset \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{A_i},\kappa_{A_i}}}[\alpha_{A_i}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{S^1}^{(WZW)_{\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{B_i},\kappa_{B_i}}}[\alpha_{B_i}]$$

$$(A.11)$$

is the extended Hilbert space description of the two-sphere with an equatorial interface $\mathcal{I}_{A_iB_i}$ separating anyons α_{A_i} and α_{B_i} . The dimension of this space is no longer necessarily ≤ 1 but instead given by the tunneling matrix elements, $\left(\mathcal{W}^{(\mathcal{I}_{A_i,B_i})}\right)_{\alpha_{A_i}}^{\alpha_{B_i}}$. Although the precise GSD counting will depend on the specific configuration of interfaces, this gives an effective algorithm for computing it: each interface comes associated with $\mathcal{W}^{(\mathcal{I}_{AB})}$ that we must contract over the free indices of the fusion spaces $\mathcal{V}^{(\Sigma_A)}$ and $\mathcal{V}^{(\Sigma_B)}$.

To see how this works in practice, let us extend our homogeneous example and take a two-sphere (with 2g discs excised) in a phase labelled by algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 and level-Killing form κ_0 and we attach g annuli in phases described by $\{\mathfrak{g}_i, \kappa_i\}_{i=1,\dots,g}$. Each annulus comes associated with two possible interfaces, \mathcal{I}_i^1 and \mathcal{I}_i^2 , and corresponding tunneling matrices $\mathcal{W}^{(\mathcal{I}_i^1)}$, and $\mathcal{W}^{(\mathcal{I}_i^1)}$. Turning the crank we find

$$\dim \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\Sigma_{\text{total}}} = \sum_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_g} \sum_{\beta_1 \dots \beta_g} \sum_{\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_g} \sum_{\delta_1 \delta_2} \sum_{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\left(\mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_0)}_0^{\delta_1}\right)^{g-1}} \mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_0)}{}_{\beta_1}^{\delta_1} \dots \mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_0)}{}_{\beta_g}^{\delta_1} \mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_0)}{}_{\delta_g}^{\delta_1} \mathcal{S}^{(\kappa_0)}{}_{\delta_1}^{\epsilon} \overset{\epsilon}{\underset{i=1}{\overset{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_g}{\overset{\beta_i}{\overset{\delta_i}{\overset{$$

where we've used the fact that \mathcal{W} intertwines modular S matrices as well as denoted $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \mathcal{W}^{t}{}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}$. In the cases where the above example matches an example in [33] (e.g. g = 1: a torus with two non-contractible interfaces), the GSD matches.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] J.R. Fliss et al., Interface Contributions to Topological Entanglement in Abelian Chern-Simons Theory, JHEP 09 (2017) 056 [arXiv:1705.09611] [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, Topological entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 110404 [hep-th/0510092] [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Levin and X.-G. Wen, Detecting Topological Order in a Ground State Wave Function, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 110405 [cond-mat/0510613] [INSPIRE].
- [4] X.-L. Qi, H. Katsura and A.W.W. Ludwig, General relationship between the entanglement spectrum and the edge state spectrum of topological quantum states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 196402.
- [5] T.L. Hughes, R.G. Leigh, O. Parrikar and S.T. Ramamurthy, Entanglement entropy and anomaly inflow, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 065059 [arXiv:1509.04969] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Levin, Protected edge modes without symmetry, Phys. Rev. X 3 (2013) 021009 [arXiv:1301.7355] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C. Wang and M. Levin, Weak symmetry breaking in two dimensional topological insulators, Phys. Rev. B 88 (2013) 245136 [arXiv:1311.0767] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Cano, T.L. Hughes and M. Mulligan, Interactions along an Entanglement Cut in 2 + 1D Abelian Topological Phases, Phys. Rev. B 92 (2015) 075104 [arXiv:1411.5369] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, Topological boundary conditions in abelian Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 845 (2011) 393 [arXiv:1008.0654] [INSPIRE].
- [10] F.A. Bais and J.K. Slingerland, Condensate induced transitions between topologically ordered phases, Phys. Rev. B 79 (2009) 045316 [arXiv:0808.0627] [INSPIRE].
- [11] F.A. Bais, J.K. Slingerland and S.M. Haaker, A Theory of topological edges and domain walls, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 220403 [arXiv:0812.4596] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Barkeshli, C.-M. Jian and X.-L. Qi, Theory of defects in Abelian topological states, Phys. Rev. B 88 (2013) 235103 [arXiv:1305.7203] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Ishibashi, The Boundary and Crosscap States in Conformal Field Theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Lou, C. Shen and L.-Y. Hung, Ishibashi states, topological orders with boundaries and topological entanglement entropy. Part I, JHEP 04 (2019) 017 [arXiv:1901.08238]
 [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Shen, J. Lou and L.-Y. Hung, Ishibashi states, topological orders with boundaries and topological entanglement entropy. Part II. Cutting through the boundary, JHEP 11 (2019) 168 [arXiv:1908.07700] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Wang, X.-G. Wen and E. Witten, Symmetric Gapped Interfaces of SPT and SET States: Systematic Constructions, Phys. Rev. X 8 (2018) 031048 [arXiv:1705.06728] [INSPIRE].
- S. Dong, E. Fradkin, R.G. Leigh and S. Nowling, Topological Entanglement Entropy in Chern-Simons Theories and Quantum Hall Fluids, JHEP 05 (2008) 016 [arXiv:0802.3231]
 [INSPIRE].

- P.V. Buividovich and M.I. Polikarpov, Entanglement entropy in gauge theories and the holographic principle for electric strings, Phys. Lett. B 670 (2008) 141 [arXiv:0806.3376]
 [INSPIRE].
- [19] W. Donnelly, Decomposition of entanglement entropy in lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 085004 [arXiv:1109.0036] [INSPIRE].
- [20] W. Donnelly, Entanglement entropy and nonabelian gauge symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 214003 [arXiv:1406.7304] [INSPIRE].
- [21] W. Donnelly and L. Freidel, Local subsystems in gauge theory and gravity, JHEP 09 (2016) 102 [arXiv:1601.04744] [INSPIRE].
- [22] R.M. Soni and S.P. Trivedi, Aspects of Entanglement Entropy for Gauge Theories, JHEP 01 (2016) 136 [arXiv:1510.07455] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H. Casini, M. Huerta and J.A. Rosabal, Remarks on entanglement entropy for gauge fields, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 085012 [arXiv:1312.1183] [INSPIRE].
- [24] W. Donnelly and A.C. Wall, Entanglement entropy of electromagnetic edge modes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 111603 [arXiv:1412.1895] [INSPIRE].
- [25] W. Donnelly and A.C. Wall, Geometric entropy and edge modes of the electromagnetic field, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104053 [arXiv:1506.05792] [INSPIRE].
- [26] W. Donnelly and G. Wong, Entanglement branes in a two-dimensional string theory, JHEP 09 (2017) 097 [arXiv:1610.01719] [INSPIRE].
- [27] W. Donnelly and G. Wong, Entanglement branes, modular flow and extended topological quantum field theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 016 [arXiv:1811.10785] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D.L. Jafferis and D.K. Kolchmeyer, *Entanglement Entropy in Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity*, arXiv:1911.10663 [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Belin, N. Iqbal and J. Kruthoff, Bulk entanglement entropy for photons and gravitons in AdS₃, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 075 [arXiv:1912.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Geiller and P. Jai-akson, *Extended actions, dynamics of edge modes and entanglement* entropy, arXiv:1912.06025 [INSPIRE].
- [31] L.Y. Hung and G. Wong, Entanglement branes and factorization in conformal field theory, arXiv:1912.11201 [INSPIRE].
- [32] J. Wang and X.-G. Wen, Boundary Degeneracy of Topological Order, Phys. Rev. B 91 (2015) 125124 [arXiv:1212.4863] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Lan, J.C. Wang and X.-G. Wen, *Gapped Domain Walls, Gapped Boundaries and* Topological Degeneracy, Phys. Rev. Lett. **114** (2015) 076402 [arXiv:1408.6514] [INSPIRE].
- [34] L.-Y. Hung and Y. Wan, Ground State Degeneracy of Topological Phases on Open Surfaces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 076401 [arXiv:1408.0014] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Kapustin, Ground-state degeneracy for abelian anyons in the presence of gapped boundaries, Phys. Rev. B 89 (2014) 125307 [arXiv:1306.4254] [INSPIRE].
- [36] T. Andrade, J.I. Jottar and R.G. Leigh, Boundary Conditions and Unitarity: the Maxwell-Chern-Simons System in AdS₃/CFT₂, JHEP 05 (2012) 071 [arXiv:1111.5054]
 [INSPIRE].

- [37] E. Karolinsky, A classification of Poisson homogeneous spaces of complex reductive Poisson-Lie groups, in Banach Center Publications. Vol. 51: Poisson geometry, Warsaw Poland (1998), pg. 103.
- [38] E. Karolinsky and S. Lyapina, Lagrangian subalgebras in g × g, where g is a real simple Lie algebra of real rank one, Trav. Math. 16 (2005) 229, https://mathscinet.ams.org/mathscinet-getitem?mr=2223160.
- [39] S. Evens and J.-H. Lu, On the variety of lagrangian subalgebras, math/9909005.
- [40] S. Evens and J.-H. Lu, On the variety of lagrangian subalgebras, ii, math/0409236.
- [41] P. Ševera, Poisson-Lie T-duality as a boundary phenomenon of Chern-Simons theory, JHEP 05 (2016) 044 [arXiv:1602.05126] [INSPIRE].
- [42] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Senechal, Conformal Field Theory, Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York U.S.A. (1997).
- [43] A.M. Polyakov and P.B. Wiegmann, Theory of Nonabelian Goldstone Bosons, Phys. Lett. B 131 (1983) 121 [INSPIRE].
- [44] A.M. Polyakov and P.B. Wiegmann, Goldstone Fields in Two-Dimensions with Multivalued Actions, Phys. Lett. B 141 (1984) 223 [INSPIRE].
- [45] P. Bouwknegt, On the Construction of Modular Invariant Partition Functions, Nucl. Phys. B 290 (1987) 507 [INSPIRE].
- [46] P. Goddard and D.I. Olive, Kac-Moody Algebras, Conformal Symmetry and Critical Exponents, Nucl. Phys. B 257 (1985) 226 [INSPIRE].
- [47] P. Goddard, W. Nahm and D.I. Olive, Symmetric Spaces, Sugawara's Energy Momentum Tensor in Two-Dimensions and Free Fermions, Phys. Lett. B 160 (1985) 111 [INSPIRE].
- [48] L.-Y. Hung and Y. Wan, Generalized ADE classification of topological boundaries and anyon condensation, JHEP 07 (2015) 120 [arXiv:1502.02026] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Ardonne and K. Schoutens, New class of non-abelian spin-singlet quantum hall states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 5096 [cond-mat/9811352].
- [50] Y. Fuji and P. Lecheminant, Non-Abelian SU(N−1) singlet fractional quantum Hall states from coupled wires, Phys. Rev. B 95 (2017) 125130 [arXiv:1611.07968] [INSPIRE].
- [51] V. Balasubramanian, J.R. Fliss, R.G. Leigh and O. Parrikar, Multi-Boundary Entanglement in Chern-Simons Theory and Link Invariants, JHEP 04 (2017) 061 [arXiv:1611.05460] [INSPIRE].
- [52] V. Balasubramanian, M. DeCross, J. Fliss, A. Kar, R.G. Leigh and O. Parrikar, Entanglement Entropy and the Colored Jones Polynomial, JHEP 05 (2018) 038 [arXiv:1801.01131] [INSPIRE].
- [53] H. Casini and M. Huerta, Entanglement entropy for a Maxwell field: Numerical calculation on a two dimensional lattice, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 105013 [arXiv:1406.2991] [INSPIRE].
- [54] E.P. Verlinde, Fusion Rules and Modular Transformations in 2D Conformal Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 300 (1988) 360 [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Ghosh, R.M. Soni and S.P. Trivedi, On The Entanglement Entropy For Gauge Theories, JHEP 09 (2015) 069 [arXiv:1501.02593] [INSPIRE].

- [56] X. Wen, S. Matsuura and S. Ryu, Edge theory approach to topological entanglement entropy, mutual information and entanglement negativity in Chern-Simons theories, Phys. Rev. B 93 (2016) 245140 [arXiv:1603.08534] [INSPIRE].
- [57] L. McGough and H. Verlinde, Bekenstein-Hawking Entropy as Topological Entanglement Entropy, JHEP 11 (2013) 208 [arXiv:1308.2342] [INSPIRE].
- [58] S. Elitzur, G.W. Moore, A. Schwimmer and N. Seiberg, *Remarks on the Canonical Quantization of the Chern-Simons-Witten Theory*, Nucl. Phys. B 326 (1989) 108 [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Lin and D.o.e. Radi^{*} cević, Comments on Defining Entanglement Entropy, arXiv:1808.05939 [INSPIRE].
- [60] C. Delcamp, B. Dittrich and A. Riello, On entanglement entropy in non-Abelian lattice gauge theory and 3D quantum gravity, JHEP 11 (2016) 102 [arXiv:1609.04806] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J.M. Isidro, J.M.F. Labastida and A.V. Ramallo, Polynomials for torus links from Chern-Simons gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 398 (1993) 187 [hep-th/9210124] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S.-P. Kou, M. Levin and X.-G. Wen, Mutual Chern-Simons theory for Z(2) topological order, Phys. Rev. B 78 (2008) 155134 [arXiv:0803.2300] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Gutperle and J.D. Miller, Topological interfaces in Chern-Simons theory and the AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 026014 [arXiv:1810.08713] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Castro, N. Iqbal and E. Llabrés, Wilson lines and Ishibashi states in AdS₃/CFT₂, JHEP
 09 (2018) 066 [arXiv:1805.05398] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Nakayama and H. Ooguri, Bulk Locality and Boundary Creating Operators, JHEP 10 (2015) 114 [arXiv:1507.04130] [INSPIRE].
- [66] H. Verlinde, Poking Holes in AdS/CFT: Bulk Fields from Boundary States, arXiv:1505.05069 [INSPIRE].
- [67] H. Verlinde, ER = EPR revisited: On the Entropy of an Einstein-Rosen Bridge, arXiv:2003.13117 [INSPIRE].
- [68] R. Sohal, B. Han, L.H. Santos and J.C.Y. Teo, Entanglement Entropy of Generalized Moore-Read Fractional Quantum Hall State Interfaces, arXiv:2004.01720 [INSPIRE].